If you have issues viewing or accessing this file, please contact us at NCJRS.gov.

# Examining the Work of State Courts, 2003

A National Perspective from the Court Statistics Project



.

206029

Examining the Work of State Courts, 2003

A National Perspective from the Court Statistics Project



# BIS

#### Edited by

Brian J. Ostrom Neal B. Kauder Robert C. LaFountain Richard Y. Schauffler Shauna M. Strickland

#### **Court Statistics Project Staff and Contributors**

Brian J. Ostrom, Director

Fred L. Cheesman, Sr. Court Research Associate Neal B. Kauder, Consultant, VisualResearch, Inc. Ann L. Keith, Court Research Associate Robert C. LaFountain, Court Management Consultant Nicole L. Mott, Court Research Associate Richard Y. Schauffler, Director, Research Services Shauna M. Strickland, Court Research Analyst Brenda G. Otto, Program Specialist

A joint project of the Conference of State Court Administrators, the Bureau of Justice Statistics, and the National Center for State Courts' Court Statistics Project.

#### © Copyright 2004

National Center for State Courts ISBN 0-89656-333-6

#### Suggested Citation:

B. Ostrom, N. Kauder, & R. LaFountain Examining the Work of State Courts, 2003: A National Perspective from the Court Statistics Project (National Center for State Courts 2004)

This report was developed under Grant 2003-BJ-CX-K103 from the Bureau of Justice Statistics. Points of view are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official position or policies of the Bureau of Justice Statistics.

Cover photo by Judith Sullivan Phillips, 1999

The sculpture is one of two massive statues located outside the United States Supreme Court in Washington D.C. Created by James Earle Fraser and titled "Contemplation of Justice", the female subject rests one arm on a book of laws and holds a figure of Justice in the other hand. The sculpture was carved in Maryland and placed on the steps of the United States Supreme Court in November, 1935.

#### Acknowledgments

The members of the Court Statistics Project (CSP) gratefully acknowledge assistance and guidance from throughout the state court community. At the heart of this national effort is the strong and continuing support of the state and trial court administrators, the appellate court clerks, and their staffs, who have provided most of the information included in *Examining the Work of State Courts, 2003* and *State Court Caseload Statistics, 2003*. They have been consistently patient and helpful in answering written and telephone inquiries for additional data or for explanations of the data provided. We owe a special debt of gratitude to the staff members of the administrative offices of the courts and of the appellate courts who serve as contact persons between their offices and the Court Statistics Project.

The content and design of all products produced by the CSP benefit greatly from the guidance of the 14 members of the Court Statistics Committee of the Conference of State Court Administrators (COSCA). The committee members have given generously of their time, talent, and experience, and their participation has been invaluable to project staff.

The Court Statistics Project is funded through the generous support of the Bureau of Justice Statistics. The authors wish to acknowledge the guidance and constructive advice provided by Steven Smith and Thomas Cohen of the Bureau of Justice Statistics. Nevertheless, the points of view stated in this document are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the policies of that agency. The more general responsibility for developing the CSP products and promoting improvements to court statistics is shared with the National Center for State Courts management, working under the policy direction of the COSCA Court Statistics Committee.

A special debt is owed to our colleague Paula Hannaford-Agor, who offered a range of valuable input that considerably improved the final product. This publication benefited greatly from the careful editing of Sara E. Lewis. Judith Sullivan Phillips skillfully managed page design and coordinated the printing of this publication.

The COSCA Court Statistics Committee was diminished by the departure of three key members in 2003, all of whom retired from their positions as principal court administrative officers in their respective states. Joseph Steele, the former state court administrator in Nebraska, departed after serving the committee since 1999. William O'Brien of Iowa has been a member of the committee since 1994 and served as vice-chair during the last three years. Denis Moran, who was a member of the committee for over 20 years and chairman for most of his tenure, leaves after making an indelible mark on the project and its publications. His insight and familiarity with the inner workings of the state courts has been invaluable to the committee and staff and his input will be sorely missed. We wish all of our colleagues the best in their new endeavors.

Finally, with the 10<sup>th</sup> anniversary of this report, Dr. Brian Ostrom steps down as Project Director. Guided by his commitment to improving judicial administration through analysis of court data, the CSP has evolved from a rudimentary archiving effort to a sophisticated information resource. CSP publications that he initiated are used and cited internationally as a model for how to analyze and present court information. Most notable are his efforts related to the project's annual report, *Examining the Work of State Courts*, and *Caseload Highlights*, our very successful research-in-brief series. Dr. Ostrom has also been instrumental in developing and initiating the *State Court Guide to Statistical Reporting*, which will provide the framework for state court data collection and analysis over the next decade. We are pleased that he will remain closely involved with the project's data, publications, and Web strategies as a senior CSP staff member and advisor.

#### Conference of State Court Administrators' Court Statistics Committee

Howard P. Schwartz, Chairman (1992 to present), Judicial Administrator, Kansas
John A. Clarke (1988 to present), Executive Officer/Clerk, Los Angeles Superior Court, California
Hugh M. Collins (1982 to present), Judicial Administrator, Louisiana
Howard W. Conyers (1990 to present), Administrative Director of the Courts, Oklahoma
Theodore Eisenberg (2002 to present), Professor, Cornell Law School, New York
James D. Gingrich (2003 to present), Director, Supreme Court of Arkansas
Donald D. Goodnow (2000 to present), Director, Administrative Office of the Courts, New Hampshire
Gerald A. Marroney (2003 to present), State Court Administrator, Colorado
Judge Aaron Ment (1991 to present), Senior Judge, Supreme Court of Connecticut
J. Denis Moran (1983 to 2003), Director of State Courts, Wisconsin
William J. O'Brien, (1994 to 2003), State Court Administrator, Iowa
John T. Olivier (1991 to present), Clerk, Supreme Court of Louisiana
Joseph C. Steele (1999 to 2003), State Court Administrator, Nebraska
William C. Vickrey (2003 to present), Administrative Director, Administrative Office of the Courts, California
Robert Wessels (1995 to present), Court Manager, County Criminal Courts at Law, Houston, Texas

#### National Center for State Courts' Board of Directors

Chief Justice Ronald M. George, Chair, Supreme Court of California Michael L. Buenger, Vice-Chair, State Court Administrator, Missouri Chief Justice Shirley S. Abrahamson, Chair-Elect, Supreme Court of Wisconsin Daniel Becker, Vice-Chair Elect, State Court Administrator, Utah Curtis (Hank) Barnette, Of Counsel, Skadden, Arp, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP, Washington, DC Reuben O. Carrerou, Court Administrator, 11th Judicial Circuit, Miami, Florida Judge Charles Riley Cloud, Norfolk, Virginia Zelda M. DeBoyes, Court Administrator, Aurora Municipal Court, Aurora, Colorado Judge Gerald T. Elliott, Division 4, 10th Judicial District of Kansas, Olathe, Kansas Judge Hilda R. Gage, Court of Appeals, Michigan Thomas A. Gottschalk, Executive Vice-President and General Counsel, General Motors Corporation, Detroit, Michigan Chief Judge Judith S. Kave, Court of Appeals, New York Judge Elizabeth Keever, 12th Judicial District, Fayetteville, North Carolina Chief Administrative Judge Jonathan Lippman, New York Judge Gary L. Lumpkin, Court of Criminal Appeals, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma Ruth Walsh McIntyre, Ph.D., Issaquah, Washington Jack B. Middleton, McLane, Graf, Rauleron, & Middleton, Manchester, New Hampshire E. Leo Milonas, Pillsbury Winthrop LLP, New York, New York Lawrence G. Myers, Municipal Court Administrator, Joplin, Missouri Judge Gayle A. Nachtigal, Circuit Court of Washington County, Hillsboro, Oregon Charles B. Renfrew, Attorney, San Francisco, California Chief Justice Randall T. Shepard, Supreme Court of Indiana Judge Michael S. Spearman, King County Superior Court, Seattle, Washington Judge Sandra Ann Thompson, Superior Court of Los Angeles County, Torrance, California Patricia Tobias, Administrative Director of the Courts, Idaho Roger K. Warren, President, National Center for State Courts, Williamsburg, Virginia

Table of Contents

Foreword	8
Overview	9
State courts processed 96.2 million new cases in 2002	10
Two-thirds of state trial court cases are filed in courts of limited jurisdiction	11
15,588 individual state trial courts and 29,428 judicial officers handled the caseload	11
On average, states have four trial court judges per 100,000 population	12
Data from 10 states showed that the jury trial rate in general civil cases decreased	13
The general civil jury trial rate dropped dramatically for 6 of the 10 states examined	
Thirteen states reported felony dispositions steadily increased while felony jury trial rates fell	15
Eight states witnessed decreases in felony jury trial rates of over 60 percent	16

-. --

......

\_

. -

ivil
ivil case filings rose for the second straight year
opulation size had no apparent affect on civil filing rates
ll but 5 of 38 states saw civil caseloads grow in the last three years
ry trials accounted for less than 1 percent of all civil dispositions
ort filings declined as contract disputes continued to increase
wo-thirds of states reporting saw a decrease in population-adjusted tort filings
utomobile claims and debt collections dominated the tort and contract landscapes
Pefendants defaulted in one-third of contract cases
utomobile tort filings fell 14 percent from their recent high in 1996 27
1edical malpractice filings increased for the second straight year

Domestic Relations	. 29
Future Domestic Relations Case Reporting in the State Court Guide to Statistical Reporting, 2003	
Domestic relations filings increased 14 percent in the last ten years	30
Growth rates varied widely among domestic relations case types	31
States varied in the amount of detail reported for domestic relations cases	33
Divorce filings comprised more than 40 percent of domestic relations caseloads	34
The previous domestic relations case reporting matrix made few distinctions among case types	35
New case type distinctions allow for better reporting of domestic relations caseloads	36

Criminal	. 37
15.5 million criminal cases were reported in 2002, up almost 4 percent from 2001	. 38
Court structure plays an important role in determining criminal caseload composition	. 39
Population size does not determine criminal filing rates	
Domestic violence filing rates were equally high in less populous states	
Several states had felony caseload growth rates in excess of 20 percent	
Seven states reduced pending felony caseloads	
Very few felony cases are ultimately resolved by a trial	. 44
Thirty-eight states and the federal government use the death penalty	
On average, inmates remain on death row for more than nine years	
More persons were sentenced to death than were executed	
States vary widely in execution and commutation rates	
Death penalty cases cost far more to adjudicate	. 50
Juvenile	51
Total juvenile filings have been slowly declining over the last four years	52
Drug offenders and females accounted for a growing percentage of cases	
The odds increased that a juvenile delinquency case will be processed formally	
Juveniles who are detained were more likely to be placed out-of-home	
Traffic	57
Filings were almost constant despite more vehicles, more drivers, and more miles driven	58
DWI filings increased for the fifth straight year in 2002	
Traffic fatality and injury rates are declining	
Seat belt usage is up, especially where the seat belt law is strictly enforced	
Appellate	63
Appellate court filings show a slight increase for the first time since 1998	
Intermediate appellate courts handle most mandatory appeals	
Appellate court filing rates vary widely across the states	
State appellate courts issued over 38,000 opinions	-
Memoranda/orders are the most common disposition in state courts of last resort	

#### Appellate, continued

Mandatory appeals in intermediate appellate courts continued to decline	68
Criminal petitions in courts of last resort decreased for second consecutive year	68
The majority of states expedite dependency appeals to speed permanent placement	69
Termination of parental rights is the most common of expedited dependency appeals	69
Appellate courts are beginning to use alternative dispute resolution	
Administrative agency appeals have decreased 18 percent over the last five years	71
Ten models for taking a trial court appeal through the appellate system	72
State Profiles	75
Appendix	91
Index of states included in section graphics	92
Court Statistics Project Methodology	94
State Court Caseload Statistics, 2003	95
The NCSC Court Statistics Project	96
The State Court Guide to Statistical Reporting	97
The Caseload Highlights Series	98
The National Center for State Courts	99

-

#### Foreword

This report offers a detailed picture of the work of the nation's state courts. Although our primary audience is the state court community, the information presented in this report is also valuable to legislative and executive branch policymakers.

*Examining the Work of State Courts, 2003*, provides a comprehensive analysis of the business of state trial and appellate courts in a non-technical fashion. Accurate, objective, and comparable data across states provide a yardstick against which states can consider their performance, identify emerging trends, and measure the possible impact of legislation. Without baseline data from each state, many of the most important questions facing the state courts will go unanswered. This volume facilitates a better understanding of the state courts by making use of closely integrated text and graphics to plainly and succinctly describe the work of state trial and appellate courts.

A second volume, *State Court Caseload Statistics, 2003*, is a basic reference that contains detailed information and descriptions of state court systems. Individuals requiring more complete information, such as state-specific information on the organization of the courts, total filings and dispositions, the number of judges, factors affecting comparability between states, and a host of other jurisdictional and structural issues, will find this volume useful.

A third publication, the *Caseload Highlights* series, targets specific and significant issues and disseminates the findings in short reports. The Court Statistics Project (CSP) recognizes that informed judges and court managers want comparative information on a range of policy-relevant topics, but they want it in a timely fashion and in a condensed, readable format. *Caseload Highlights* fills the gaps in distribution cycles between the two annual reports and are also timely in terms of the data and subject matter covered.

These three publications are developed with generous support from the Bureau of Justice Statistics (BJS). Detailed descriptive information on court structure is provided by another National Center for State Courts (NCSC) and BJS joint project, *State Court Organization*. Topics covered include: the number of courts and judges; judicial selection; jury qualifications and verdict rules; and processing and sentencing procedures of criminal cases. Court structure diagrams summarize the key features of each state's court organization. The current edition is available through BJS at: www.ojp.usdoj.gov/ bjs/abstract/sco98.htm. A new, updated edition is scheduled for publication in fall 2004.

Finally, 2003 saw the introduction of the new *State Court Guide to Statistical Reporting*. The CSP, supported by the State Justice Institute, and with close guidance from the Conference of State Court Administrators' (COSCA) Court Statistics Committee, created the *Guide* as a tool for improving court administration by providing new and more concise case filing and disposition categories. The *Guide* helps courts account for the significant amount of judicial time and effort required in the post-judgment activities associated with some types of cases, such as juvenile and domestic relations cases. The *Guide*, along with its accompanying reporting matrices, is available on the NCSC web site at: www.ncsconline.org/d\_research/statistical\_reporting\_2003/index.html.

Taken together, these publications constitute the most complete research and reference sources available on the work of the nation's state courts. All of the publications are joint projects of COSCA and NCSC, who, along with BJS, hope that this information will better inform local, state, and national discussions about the operation of state courts.



The court system of the United States arose out of unique historical circumstances. The system is based upon the principle of federalism; individual states developed their own judicial structure at the same time a federal court system was established. The guiding principle was that states needed to retain significant autonomy from the federal government. This parallel evolution gives rise to complexity with respect to jurisdiction of the federal and state courts. There is significant overlap between legal cases handled by state and federal courts; state courts can hear cases involving constitutional matters, although this is commonly thought of as the business of the federal courts; federal courts can hear criminal and civil cases (e.g., bank robbery, mass torts) that could also be prosecuted as violations of state rather than federal law. That said, it should be understood that the caseload of the state courts vastly exceeds that of the federal courts for both criminal and civil cases.

Structurally, the court system is also complex. In addition to the federal system of trial and appellate courts, there are multiple levels of courts in each state. State designs range from a unified trial court and a single appellate court of last resort (e.g., North Dakota or the District of Columbia) to as many as nine different trial courts combined with multiple appellate courts (e.g., Georgia or Indiana).

Variation in size is another important factor distinguishing the state courts. The state of California has the largest court system in the world – the Superior Court of Los Angeles County alone is larger in terms of population served and number of judicial officers than the entire court system of many countries. At the opposite end of the spectrum, the courts of Wyoming serve the smallest state population in the United States.

This volume endeavors to compare these often strikingly different states in such a way as to make the comparisons meaningful. When appropriate, adjustments are made for population and distinctions are noted between different types of systems (e.g., general jurisdiction versus unified). Finally, for the sake of simplicity, this text will refer to the District of Columbia and the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico as states. All references to total populations and caseloads will include data from those two jurisdictions, unless otherwise noted.

#### State courts processed 96.2 million new cases in 2002

- D The Court Statistics Project reports the filing of 96.2 million cases in our nation's state courts in 2002; 60 percent (57.7 million) of those cases were traffic related.
- D Combined civil, criminal, domestic relations, and juvenile filings (38.5 million in 2002) have grown 15 percent in the 10 years since 1993 with each category individually showing increases from 12 to 19 percent. Traffic filings, on the other hand, have remained fairly stable, increasing only 2 percent during the period shown.
- D From 2001 to 2002, civil, criminal, and domestic relations caseloads all had notable increases. However, juvenile caseloads dropped almost 3 percent from 2001 to 2002—the most significant decrease since 1999.



State Trial Court Filings by Case Type,

#### Total State Trial Court Filings, 1993-2002

Millions



#### Two-thirds of state trial court cases are filed in courts of limited jurisdiction

- D Forty state trial court systems are separated into courts of general and limited jurisdiction. Ten states, the District of Columbia, and Puerto Rico have unified court systems in which trial courts are consolidated into a single general jurisdiction court level.
- D Nationally, one-third of state trial court filings are submitted in courts of unified or general jurisdiction. The remaining two-thirds are processed in limited jurisdiction courts, where caseloads are largely comprised of misdemeanor filings, preliminary hearings in felony cases, traffic cases, and small claims cases.
- D State trial courts comprise 13,544 limited jurisdiction courts and 2,044 unified and general jurisdiction courts.

Cases Filed in State Trial Courts by Jurisdiction, 2002 (in millions)

		Jurisdict	ion
Case Type	Total	Unified/General	Limited
Traffic	57.6	14.1	43.5
Civil	16.3	7.7	8.6
Criminal	15.4	5.5	9.9
Domestic	4.6	3.3	1.3
Juvenile	2.0	1.3	0.7
Total	95.9	31.9	64.0

Note: Totals may not sum due to rounding.

States with Unified Court Systems



#### 15,538 individual state trial courts and 29,428 judicial officers handled the caseload

Judicial Officers in State Trial Courts by Court Jurisdiction, 1993-2002

	Numbe	— Number of Judicial Officers —				
Year	Unified / General Jurisdiction	Limited Jurisdiction	Total	Growth from Prior Year		
1993	9,751	18,316	28,067			
1994	9,793	18,317	28,110	0.2		
1995	10,153	17,974	28,127	0.1		
1996	10,114	18,301	28,415	1.0		
1997	10,007	18,553	28,560	0.5		
1998	10,163	18,630	28,793	0.8		
1999	11,118	17,905	29,023	0.8		
2000	11,300	17,943	29,243	0.8		
2001	11,323	17,943	29,266	0.1		
2002	11,390	18,038	29,428	0.6		

- D The total number of limited and general jurisdiction courts in the United States, as well as the number of judicial officers associated with them, can vary as a result of the creation or closing of courts and from changes in court system classification.
- D In 2002, there were 29,428 trial judges and quasi-judicial officers (i.e., commissioners, magistrates, and referees) in the nation's state trial courts. The growth in state judgeships has averaged just over one-half of 1 percent per year; the annual growth in the four major non-traffic categories of cases has averaged between two and three times that amount.

#### On average, states have four trial court judges per 100,000 population

- D This table shows the number of general jurisdiction court judges reported in 2002 by state. (Note: these figures do not include quasi-judicial officers such as magistrates and referees.) Due to the nature of their court structures, states with unified courts—where there is no distinction between trial levels-logically tend to have more judges when compared to only the general jurisdiction courts in states with multilevel court systems.
- D In the aggregate, state court systems employ an average of just under four general jurisdiction trial judges per 100,000 population. When comparing court structures, general jurisdiction courts in states with multitiered courts have an average of three judges for every 100,000 residents while states with unified courts have double that amount. Also displayed here is the total number of general jurisdiction filings per judge. States averaged over 1,500 filings per judge in 2002.

Number and Rate of Judges in Unified and General Jurisdiction Trial Courts in
49 States, 2002

<b>•</b>		Judges per	
State	Number of Judges	100,000 Population	Filings per Judge
Unified Courts			
California	1,498	4.3	1,546
Illinois	852	6.8	1,493
Puerto Rico	328	8.5	853
Missouri	309	5.4	1,637
Minnesota	263	5.2	1,940
Wisconsin	241	4.4	1,886
lowa	192	6.5	1,526
Connecticut	180	5.2	1,594
Kansas District of Columbia	160	5.9	1,764
	58 42	10.2	2,404
North Dakota South Dakota	42 38	6.6 5.0	1,982
			2,492
Unified Jurisdiction Average	347	6.2	1,760
General Jurisdiction Courts	50.1	0.7	054
New York	524	2.7	954
Florida	509	3.0	2,206
Texas	418	1.9	1,701
Pennsylvania*	409	3.3	1,569
New Jersey	394	4.6	2,810
Ohio	376	3.3	1,490
Indiana	295	4.8	2,283
Louisiana	211	4.7	1,631
Michigan	210	2.1	1,356
Georgia	188	2.2	1,772
Washington	175	2.9	1,152
Oregon	166	4.7	1,902
Arizona	159	2.9	1,061
Virginia	150	2.1	1,878
Maryland	146	2.7	1,730
Alabama	142	3.2	1,307
Colorado	132	2.9	1,070
Tennessee	116	2.0	1,912
Arkansas	115	4.2	1,485
Kentucky	114	2.8	979
North Carolina	106	1.3	2,986
Massachusetts	80	1.2	391
New Mexico	72	3.9	1,244
Utah	70	3.0	3,089
West Virginia	65	3.6	576
Nevada	56	2.6	1,433
Nebraska	54	3.1	755
Hawaii	49	3.9	686
South Carolina	48	1.2	3,790
Montana	40	4.4	779
Idaho	39	2.9	500
Alaska	34	5.3	455
New Hampshire	29	2.3	1,113
Rhode Island	22	2.1	770
Vermont	20	3.2	2,900
Delaware	19	2.4	1,220
Maine	16	1.2	790
General Jurisdiction Average	156	3.0	1,506
Overall Average	203	3.8	1,568

\* The data for Pennsylvania are preliminary figures provided by the PA AOC.

No data were available for Mississippi, Oklahoma, or Wyoming for 2002..

200,000

0

1993

5

#### Data from 10 states showed that the jury trial rate in general civil cases decreased

- D Ten states were able to provide comparable data with which to examine trial rates among general civil dispositions. Those states included: Arkansas, California, Florida, Hawaii, Minnesota, New Mexico, North Carolina, Texas, Washington, and West Virginia. General civil cases involve tort, contract, and real property issues.
- D These 10 states reported, on average, just under 500,000 general civil dispositions per year for the time period shown; about 7 percent of these dispositions resulted in a jury or bench trial.
- D In the same 10 states, roughly 76 percent of all general civil trials during the early and mid-1990s were non-jury (bench) trials. That proportion increased to 77 percent in 2002.
- D The percentage of trials decided by jury dropped from 26 percent in 1993 to 23 percent in 2002. These ten states reported 10,500 jury trials in 1993, or 19 per 1,000 general civil dispositions. In 2002, there were 6,300 jury trials, or 13 for every 1,000 general civil dispositions. However, for most of the decade, the rate of general civil jury trials remained fairly stable between 18 and 20 trials per 1,000 general civil dispositions.

Percentage of Jury v. Non-Jury Trials in General Jurisdiction



1996





Total Trials

1999

-32%

2002

The general civil jury trial rate dropped dramatically for 6 of the 10 states examined

- From 1993 to 2002, Arkansas, Florida, Minnesota, New Mexico, North Carolina, and West Virginia all experienced a drop in jury trial rates between 35 and 75 percent. West Virginia, in fact, experienced the greatest decline with a drop of 72 percent over the 10 years.
- Jury trial rates for a few states changed less dramatically. The rates in California, Hawaii, and Texas, for example, dropped 20 percent or less.
- D Variation in jury trial rates was more pronounced at the beginning of the series (Minnesota, North Carolina, and West Virginia had the highest rates), but has tended to become more concentrated over time. Most states now cluster between 8 and 12 jury trials per 1,000 general civil dispositions.

Jury Trial Rates per 1,000 General Civil Dispositions in General Jurisdiction Trial Courts in 10 States, 1993 v. 2002



Thirteen states reported felony dispositions steadily increased while felony jury trial rates fell

- D Thirteen states were able to provide comparable data for an examination of felony trial rates. The states included are: Alaska, California, Florida, Indiana, Kansas, New Jersey, North Carolina, Ohio, Puerto Rico, South Dakota, Texas, Vermont, and the District of Columbia.
- Felony dispositions increased nearly 125 percent in the states examined, beginning with 417,000 dispositions in 1976 and ending with just over 933,000 dispositions in 2002. The number of trials fell from about 37,000 to 30,200 (-18 percent) over the 27-year period.
- D Defendants, and the attorneys who represent them, have shown a consistent preference for having their cases decided by a jury rather than a judge. In the 13 states that provided the felony trial data for this time series, the proportion of felonies decided by juries increased from 59 percent in 1976 to 68 percent in 2002.

Total Felony Dispositions and Trials in General Jurisdiction Trial Courts in 13 States, 1976-2002



Proportion of Jury v. Non-Jury Felony Trials in General Jurisdiction Trial Courts in 13 States, 1976-2002



#### Eight states witnessed decreases in felony jury trial rates of over 60 percent

- Large declines in felony jury trial rates were seen between 1976 and 2002; states with the most notable drops were Puerto Rico (-88 percent), New Jersey (-78 percent), North Carolina (-75 percent), the District of Columbia (-75 percent), and Indiana (-72 percent).
- D Felony jury trial rates varied dramatically in the benchmark year of 1976, from a high of 167 jury trials per 1,000 felony dispositions in the District of Columbia, to a low of 28 per 1,000 in Vermont. The adjacent lines show a noticeable reduction in the range of rates in 2002, with the majority of states ending with between 20 and 40 jury trials per 1,000 dispositions.
- D The blue line shows the aggregate rates for the 13 states being examined. The line is relatively low, reflecting the influence of the three largest states in the sample: Texas, California, and Florida.

Jury Trial Rates per 1,000 Felony Dispositions in General Jurisdiction Trial Courts in 13 States, 1993 v. 2002



State Court Guide to

<u>\_</u>

10

nn Tra

.,

 $\frac{1}{2}$ 

Statistical Reporting

2003, provides detailed

descriptions of avail case

and disposition types

A civil case is filed when a court is called upon to be the arbiter of a non-criminal dispute between individuals, businesses, or government agencies. These cases run the gamut from arguments between neighbors over a broken fence to presiding over the estate of a deceased family member to multibillion dollar class action suits such as the tobacco cases recently in the news. Domestic relations cases, although of a civil nature, are examined separately in the Domestic Relations section and are not included in these analyses.

The final pages of this section focus on tort law, the area of civil law that protects individuals and businesses against the negligent or intentionally harmful acts of others. There are many kinds of tort cases, including those that allege personal injury (e.g., medical malpractice) and those that allege property damage (e.g., vandalism). Contract cases encompass everything from small claims, typically worth a few hundred dollars, to multibillion dollar anti-trust suits.

The recently released *State Court Guide to Statistical Reporting*, 2003, provides detailed descriptions of civil case and disposition types, as well as recommended formats for court data reporting. For more information and downloads of the *Guide*, please go to the National Center for State Courts Web site at: www.ncsc online.org/d\_research/statistical\_reporting\_2003/index.html.

#### Civil case filings rose for the second straight year

- D Civil cases are more numerous than criminal cases and second only to traffic in sheer volume, as over 16 million civil cases were filed in state courts in 2002.
- D After fluctuations during the first eight years of this trend, civil filings in both limited and general jurisdiction courts have risen steadily in the past two years.

Civil Cases Filed in State Trial Courts by Jurisdiction, 1993-2002



#### Civil Caseload Composition in Unified v. General Jurisdiction Trial Courts in 18 States, 2002



- D Most states have two-tiered court systems divided into courts of limited jurisdiction and courts of general jurisdiction. About one-fourth of the states have unified court systems that hear and dispose of all cases regardless of the amount or issues in controversy. Limited jurisdiction courts in states with two-tiered systems typically process a substantial number of civil cases (such as small claims), and the remaining civil caseloads are heard in the general jurisdiction courts.
- D General civil cases, i.e., tort, contract, and real property cases, together comprise 45 percent of the civil caseload in general jurisdiction courts and are second only to small claims cases in unified courts (40 percent).
- D The proportion of small claims cases filed in unified court systems (44 percent) is four times greater than that of their general jurisdiction counterparts (11 percent).

#### Civil

#### Population size had no apparent affect on civil filing rates

The following page provides a detailed listing of civil filings in the states.

- D The calculation of civil filings per 100,000 population takes into account the population variance among states. Population-adjusted civil filings range from a high of about 15,300 in the District of Columbia to a low of approximately 2,400 in Hawaii. Tennessee appears to have a lower rate than Hawaii, but data from their limited jurisdiction courts were not available.
- D Differences in state court dollar amount jurisdictional limits are reflected in the rates of filings in the general versus limited jurisdiction columns. States with fewer filings in the general jurisdiction court typically have higher minimum dollar amounts (e.g., Michigan's minimum is \$25,000) whereas the reverse is true in states with a low minimum, such as New Jersey (\$2,000).
- D Case counting methods and court structure also influence civil filing rates. For example, Maryland and Virginia both report a substantially higher civil filing rate than most other states. However, most of these cases are filed in the limited jurisdiction courts and arise from small claims or post-judgment actions that are counted as new filings.
- D The District of Columbia perennially ranks first on this population-adjusted list. It is likely that their civil caseload is inflated by the vast numbers of commuters who work (and file civil cases) in the District, but who are not counted in the underlying population figures. Adjusting the District's rate by adding the U.S. Census Bureau's estimate of commuters into the city (481,112) to the permanent population (570,898) generates a rate between those of New York and Indiana (8,302).

#### Total Civil Filings (Excluding Domestic Relations Filings), 2002

	Filin	gs per 100,000 Pop	ulation		Filings		
		Unified/General	Limited		Unified/General	Limited	Population
State	Total	Jurisdiction	Jurisdiction	Total	Jurisdiction	Jurisdiction	Rank
District of Columbia*	15,298	15,298		87,337	87,337		51
Maryland	15,158	1,442	13,716	827,341	78,726	748,615	18
Virginia	14,004	1,012	12,992	1,021,374	73,794	947,580	12
New Jersey	8,844	8,775	69	759,741	753,801	5,940	9
New York	8,620	1,970	6,649	1,651,347	377,497	1,273,850	3
Indiana	7,534	5,878	1,657	464,051	362,021	102,030	14
South Carolina	7,373	1,813	5,560	302,821	74,475	228,346	25
Kansas*	7,263	7,263	3,500	197,261	197,261	220,040	33
Michigan	7,203	750	6,471	725,744	75,361	650,383	8
South Dakota*	6,989	6,989	0,471	53,191	53,191		47
South Dakola	0,909	0,989		55,191	55,191		47
Georgia	6,929	799	6,131	593,179	68,372	524,807	10
Delaware	6,644	1,763	4,881	53,643	14,237	39,406	46
Ohio	6,496	2,106	4,390	741,922	240,540	501,382	7
Colorado	6,455	1,304	5,150	290,886	58,783	232,103	22
Utah	6,380	6,009	371	147,781	139,186	8,595	35
Connecticut*	6,307	4,184	2,123	218,245	144,791	73,454	30
North Carolina	6,256	2,119	4,137	520,490	176,279	344,211	11
Massachusetts	5,993	399	5,595	385,227	25,619	359,608	13
Florida	5,878	2,639	3,239	982,423	441,007	541,416	4
Nevada	5,835	1,264	4,570	126,815	27,482	99,333	36
Louisiana	5,529	3.647	1,882	247,838	163,490	84,348	24
Idaho	5,441	551	4,890	72,971	7,384	65,587	40
Montana	5,314	1,691	3,622	48,325	15,382	32,943	45
Kentucky	5,242	1,167	4,074	214,533	47,783	166,750	26
Rhode Island	5,086	991	4,095	54,402	10,599	43,803	44
Nebraska	4,953	419	4,534	85,651	7,250	78,401	39
Arkansas	4,889	1,843	3,045	132,483	49,948	82,535	34
lowa*	4,823	4,823		141,650	141,650		31
Wisconsin*	4,663	4,663		253,735	253,735	<u></u>	20
Oregon	4,516	4,516	n/a	159,040	159,040	n/a	28
Arizona	4,484	1,141	3,343	244,647	62,262	182,385	19
Alabama	4,430	1,121	3,309	198,744	50,286	148,458	23
Illinois*	4,429	4,429		558,128	558,128		5
Alaska	4,149	1,011	3,138	26,711	6,507	20,204	48
West Virginia	4,086	1,584	2,502	73,627	28,544	45,083	38
Puerto Rico*	4,017	4,017		154,994	154,994		27
California*	4,012	4,012		1,408,818	1,408,818		1
North Dakota*	3,900	3,900		24,729	24,729		49
New Hampshire	3,819	596	3,223	48,694	7,602	41,092	42
Washington	3,742	1,505	2,237	227,097	91,326	135,771	15
Missouri*	3,628	3,628		205,829	205,829		17
Vermont	3,559	2,816	743	21,947	17,364	4,583	50
New Mexico	3,549	1,853	1,696	65,834	34,370	31,464	37
Pennsylvania**	3,401	623	2,778	419,494	76,843	342,651	6
Minnesota*	3,080	3,080		154,631	154,631		21
Texas	2,985	811	2,174	650,050	176,651	473,399	2
Maine	2,807	257	2,550	36,336	3,324	33,012	41
Mississippi	2,789	922	1,867	80,107	26,479	53,628	32
Hawaii	2,398	720	1,678	29,848	8,960	20,888	43
			n/a	67,676	67,676	n/a	16
Tennessee	1,167	1,167	n/a	010,10	010,10	il/a	10

These states have a unified court system (others have a two-tiered system).
 The data for Pennsylvania are preliminary figures provided by the PA AOC.
 Notes: n/a signifies not available. No data were available for Oklahoma or Wyoming for 2002.

#### All but 5 of 38 states saw civil caseloads grow in the last three years

- D A clearance rate is the total number of cases disposed divided by the number of cases filed during a given time period. Rates of over 100 percent (as reported in nine states in 2002) indicate that the court disposed of more cases than were filed, thus reducing their pending caseload.
- D All but four states cleared 90 percent or more of their aggregate civil caseload between 2000 and 2002.
- Caseload growth is one factor that may influence clearance rates.
   Two states with low clearance rates between 2000 and 2002, Arkansas and Rhode Island, reported significant increases in their contract case filings (102 percent and 68 percent, respectively) over the same period.
- D Only three states (the District of Columbia, Hawaii, and New Mexico) reported a decline in civil caseloads between 2000 and 2002.

#### Civil Caseload Clearance and Growth Rates for Unified and General Jurisdiction Trial Courts in 38 States, 2000-2002

		Growth Rate			
State	2000	2001	ance Rates — 2002	2000-2002	2000-2002
Unified Courts					
Wisconsin	101%	99%	100%	100%	18%
District of Columbia	102	99	97	100	-4
North Dakota	99	101	98	99	14
Minnesota	101	95	99	98	7
Illinois	100	101	91	97	8
Kansas	95	101	93	96	13
Missouri	97	97	91	95	10
South Dakota	94	90	94	93	9
California	90	89	87	89	3
General Jurisdiction C	ourts				
Massachusetts	120	97	105	107	15
New York	110	107	103	107	1
Utah	133	94	93	107	5
Colorado	113	100	103	105	5
Hawaii	123	86	100	103	-14
Delaware	97	112	99	103	2
Alaska	103	105	98	102	11
New Jersey	103	103	101	102	6
New Mexico	99	102	101	101	-8
Texas	105	102	93	100	12
Tennessee	99	100	99	99	0
Oregon	102	98	97	99	6
Vermont	98	97	99	98	2
Maryland	96	100	97	98	4
Ohio	99	96	96	97	16
Michigan	98	95	97	97	3
South Carolina	97	100	93	96	20
Washington	97	96	94	96	4
Alabama	92	96	99	96	18
New Hampshire	97	94	95	95	5
Idaho	98	93	94	95	21
Indiana	93	95	96	94	14
Arizona	92	103	87	94	1
West Virginia	91	93	96	93	0
Arkansas	94	91	87	91	19
Montana	95	90	86	90	8
Kentucky	90	89	83	87	15
Virginia	88	82	82	84	4
Rhode Island	79	74	66	73	22

Jury trials accounted for less them 1 percent of all CMI dispositions.

- D The highest non-jury (bench) trial rates appear in Tennessee where nearly one in five (17.2 percent) civil cases is reported disposed of by non-jury trial. The District of Columbia, New Jersey, and Florida each report bench trial rates of less than 1 percent.
- D Ratios of non-jury trials to jury trials also vary dramatically: Tennessee reports a 33 to 1 ratio while Michigan reports equal proportions (1:1).
- D Overall, about 8 percent of civil cases were disposed of by trial in these 21 states. The greatest proportion of civil cases (42 percent) were settled and/or dismissed by the court.

		Trials			Non-Trial		
State	Total Dispositions	Total	Jury	Non-jury	Default	Settle/Dismiss	Other
Unified Courts							
Missouri	188,722	10.3%	0.3%	10.0%	48%	38%	3%
Kansas	163,707	2.2	0.1	2.1	54	29	15
District of Columbia	80,212	0.8	0.3	0.5	17	52	30
lowa	25,317	13.3	1.3	12.0	24	10	53
South Dakota	11,853	6.9	0.9	5.9	58	18	17
General Jurisdiction Co	ourts						
Indiana	368,460	11.4	0.2	11.2	37	31	20
Texas	164,837	15.5	1.0	14.5	14	43	27
Florida	162,056	1.4	0.9	0.5	10	49	39
Ohio	140,901	2.0	0.8	1.2	24	43	31
Tennessee	128,967	17.2	0.5	16.6	11	61	10
New Jersey	114,435	2.0	1.6	0.4	8	80	10
Washington	110,530	1.5	0.5	1.1	15	26	57
Michigan	51,445	2.2	1.1	1.1	34	58	6
New Mexico	32,469	12.0	0.4	11.6	21	27	41
Arkansas	31,675	8.6	0.8	7.8	25	38	28
North Carolina*	25,314	11.2	2.1	9.1	n/a	62	27
Hawaii*	7,584	1.9	0.5	1.4	n/a	58	40
Delaware**	6,902	1.9	n/a	n/a	22	50	26
Vermont	6,633	15.6	1.0	14.6	46	38	n/a
Alaska	3,373	3.9	1.4	2.4	4	60	32
Rhode Island	2,460	9.8	4.2	5.5	n/a	72	18
Overall	1,827,892	7.6%	0.6%	7.0%	27%	42%	23%

#### Manner of Disposition for Civil Cases Filed in 21 Unified and General Jurisdiction Trial Courts, 2002

n/a = not available

\* Defaults in North Carolina and Hawaii cannot be distinguished from settle/dismiss and other dispositions.

\*\* Delaware does not report separate jury and bench trial statistics

Note: totals may not sum due to rounding.

#### Tort filings declined as contract disputes continued to increase

 Data from the 17 states able to provide comparable tort and contract filing data for the 10-year period from 1993 to 2002 indicate a 5 percent drop in tort filings while contract filings increased by 21 percent.

D While the number of tort filings in the 17 states exceeded those of contract filings during the first five years shown, contract cases have since overtaken tort cases and have continued to rise steadily.

- D Although data from 16 states indicate a 40 percent increase in tort filings since 1975, filings peaked in 1990 and have actually shown a generally downward movement since that time.
- D The addition of 19 more states beginning in 1993 verifies the downward trend and reveals a 4 percent decrease in tort filings over the last 10 years.
- D The 35 states included in the 10 year trend represent about 77 percent of the U.S. population. Total population in those states rose 13 percent during that time, indicating no discernable relationship between tort filings and population growth.

Tort and Contract Filings in General Jurisdiction Trial Courts in 17 States, 1993-2002



800,000 35 States, 1993-2002 600,000 -4% 400,000 16 States, 1975-2002 +40% 200.000 0 1975 1981 1987 1993 1999 2002 D 35 States, 1993-2002 16 States, 1975-2002

## Tort Filings in General Jurisdiction Trial Courts in 16 States and 35 States, 1975-2002

- Two-thirds of states recently aw a decrease in population-adjusted tort filings
- D States with unified court systems hear all tort cases regardless of the amount of damages sought by the plaintiff. General jurisdiction courts in states with two-tiered court systems only hear tort cases valued over a statutory amount (ranging up to \$50,000).
- D New Jersey had the highest population-adjusted filing rates in both years shown on the table. Its low jurisdictional limit, combined with its proximity to New York City and Philadelphia, likely contribute to the higher rates there.
- D North Dakota had the lowest rate in 1993, but has increased 17 percent over 10 years.

#### Growth Rates of Tort Filings in Unified and General Jurisdiction Trial Courts in 31 States, 1993 v. 2002

	Filings per 100	Filings per 100,000 Population			
State	1993	2002	1993-2002		
Unified Courts					
North Dakota	83	97	17%		
Puerto Rico	247	266	8		
Connecticut	487	503	3		
Kansas	174	179	3		
Missouri	342	342	0		
California	283	233	-18		
Wisconsin	179	146	-19		
Minnesota	152	117 -23			
General Jurisdiction	Courts				
Indiana	190	217	14		
Idaho	101	111	10		
New York	391	428	10		
Alaska	156	167	7		
New Jersey	809	835	3		
Ohio	282	290	3		
Alabama	275	269	-2		
Utah	97	93	-4		
Arkansas	216	195	-9		
Tennessee	237	210	-12		
Oregon	246	212	-14		
Washington	226	189	-16		
Colorado	140	117	-16		
North Carolina	140	114	-19		
Florida	318	239	-25		
Maryland	302	218	-28		
Nevada	489	339	-31		
Arizona	329	224	-32		
Maine	130	86	-34		
Texas	264	159	-40		
New Mexico	356	205	-43		
Michigan	374	213	-43		
Hawaii	251	135	-46		

C.

- D This table is divided into states with unified court systems and states with separate general jurisdiction courts. States with unified court systems will hear and count contract cases that would be disposed of in limited jurisdiction courts in other states (i.e., small claims cases) in addition to the higher-stakes cases typically heard in courts of general jurisdiction. Hence, contract filings per 100,000 population tend to be higher in unified courts.
- D New Jersey has no minimum limit for contract cases filed in their general jurisdiction court and the maximum amount allowable for small claims cases in their limited jurisdiction court is only \$2,000. Functionally, New Jersey is more similar to a unified court system than are the other states with two-tiered systems.
- D The 25 states shown were nearly evenly split between those whose populationadjusted contract caseloads increased over the last 10 years and those whose decreased. Kansas led all states with a 77 percent increase in their contract caseload. Puerto Rico, another unified jurisdiction, reported the largest decrease at -49 percent.



Growth Rates of Cuntral Anings in Unified and General Jurisdiction Trial Counts in 15 States, 1993 v. 2002

	Filings per 100,000 Population		
State	1993	2002	1993-2002
Unified Courts			
Kansas	2,755	4,875	77%
North Dakota	825 .	1,426	73
Missouri	1,249	1,613	29
California	344	343	0
Minnesota	136	123	-10
Wisconsin	374	259	-31
Connecticut	678	446	-34
Puerto Rico	1,383	708	-49
General Jurisdictio	n Courts		
Wyoming	160	222	38
Arkansas	497	670	35
Washington	264	322	22
New Jersey	2,421	2,797	16
North Carolina	82	91	11
Oregon	653	694	6
Massachusetts	77	80	5
Texas	123	127	4
Alabama	298	287	-4
New York	100	88	-12
Tennessee	127	106	-16
Colorado	230	183	-20
New Mexico	698	548	-21
Arizona	284	221	-22
Alaska	89	66	-26
Florida	265	189	-28
Maine	75	39	-47

25

Automobile claims and debt collections dominated the tort and contract landscapes

Ν

- D A study of general civil cases conducted by the National Center for State Courts (NCSC) and the Bureau of Justice Statistics (BJS) entitled the *Civil Justice Survey* of State Courts, 1992 still provides the most accurate picture of tort caseload composition available.<sup>1</sup> Automobile accident torts clearly dominated the types of torts disposed of, exceeding all other tort cases combined by 20 percent.
- D Premises liability ("slip and fall") cases constituted the second largest share of tort dispositions at 17 percent.
- D Only one in twenty tort dispositions involved a claim of medical malpractice. Product liability cases, actions that also garner considerable public interest, were equally rare.
- D The Civil Justice Survey of State Courts, 1992 also provided data regarding contract case composition.<sup>2</sup> More than half (52 percent) of all contract cases in this sample were seller plaintiff cases. These actions are typically debt collections where the seller is demanding payment on goods or services previously delivered.
- D Mortgage foreclosure cases, a more specific kind of seller plaintiff action between a financial institution and a borrower, comprised about one-fifth of the contract caseload.
- D These data suggest that 7 of every 10 contract cases are some form of debt collection.
- D Buyer plaintiff cases, where the plaintiff seeks a refund or the honoring of a warrantee for a faulty, incomplete, or undelivered product, represented 12 percent of the contract caseload.
- D In the civil arena, fraud—which is generally considered tortious in nature—most often arises from contractual disputes. In this sample, 4 percent of all contract cases alleged some form of contractual fraud.

<sup>1</sup> See the BJS Special Report: Tort Cases in Large Counties (BJS, April 1995)

# Composition of Tort Cases Disposed of in the Nation's 75 Largest Counties, 1992

Auto	60%
Premises Liability	<u></u>
Product Liability	5%
ledical Malpractice	5%
All Other	13%

Composition of Contract Cases Disposed of in the Nation's 75 Largest Counties, 1992

Seller Plaintiff	52%
Mortgage Foreclosure	The state of the second s
Buyer Plaintiff	12%
Rental/Lease	··· 6%
Fraud	4%
All Other	7%

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See the BJS Special Report: Contract Cases in Large Counties (BJS, February 1996)





Automobile tonullings tell 12 idencent from their 23 recent high in 1996

- D After increasing 10 percent from 1993 to 1996, automobile tort filings fell steadily until 2002, when they showed a modest increase of about 1.5 percent over 2001.
- D The spike in filings in 1996 resulted mostly from a rush to file before the enactment of tort reform legislation in Michigan that year.
- D Safety features such as air bags, anti-lock brakes, and safety restraints have no doubt contributed to the decline in automobile torts.



- D Over three-quarters of tort cases were resolved by some form of settlement or dismissal. Exactly half of contract cases had a similar disposition.
- D Trials are rare in both tort and contract cases. Non-jury trials are the most prevalent (3.7 percent) in contract cases, but tort cases are slightly more likely to be disposed of by trial (bench or jury) than are contract cases (5.2 percent versus 4.1 percent, respectively).
- D The aforementioned NCSC/BJS studies indicate that over half of all contract cases were seller plaintiff or debt collection cases. This undoubtedly explains the disproportionately high percentage of default judgments in contract cases (35 percent). Defendants who fail to answer and dispute the allegations in tort cases run the risk of a having awards levied against them. In debt collection cases, the amount is known and often indisputable.

#### Medical malpractice filings increased for the second straight year

- D Data from 11 states indicate an 18 percent increase in medical malpractice filings in the 10 years from 1993 to 2002. The addition of five states for the last five years shows medical malpractice filings increasing, on average, by just over 1 percent annually.
- D By 1996, filings in the 11 states had increased 12 percent, where they remained essentially unchanged for three years. Following two years of decline in 1999 and 2000, the latest two years of data show filings rising substantially (10 percent).
- D Data from two states, Florida and New York, dominate the trend shown here. In the 10-year trend, the two states represent 67 percent of the filings. In the five-year trend, they account for just over half (53 percent).

#### Medical Malpractice Filings in 11 and 17 States, 1993-2002



Note: Florida, which represents 25% of the 10 year trend and 19% of the five year trend, does not distinguish medical from other types of professional maloractice.

# 17 States, 1998-2002 11 States, 1993-2002

#### Medical Malpractice Filings in 17 States, 1998 v. 2002

State	—— Fil 1998	ings —	Percent Change	Percent of 2002	
State	1990	2002	1998-2002	Tort Caseload	
Colorado	157	297	89%	6%	
Wyoming	44	76	73	15	
Mississippi	356	549	54	8	
New Hampshire	79	103	30	5	
North Dakota	22	44	19	7	
Florida*	2,179	2,530	16	6	
Wisconsin	230	253	10	3	
Arizona	630	690	10	6	
Connecticut	337	368	9	2	
Puerto Rico	573	614	7	6	
Missouri	817	873	7	5	
New York	4,316	4,400	2	5	
Alabama	315	306	-3	3	
New Jersey	1,776	1,656	-7	2	
Rhode Island	149	135	-9	4	
Oregon	133	64	-24	1	
Minnesota	208	133	-36	2	
Total	12,321	13,091	6%	4%	

\* Note: Florida does not distinguish medical from other types of professional malpractice.

- D This table shows medical malpractice filing data for each of the 17 states included in the line chart above, as well as the individual percentage change over five years and the proportion of medical malpractice cases among all torts.
- D Colorado's five year caseload increase was the highest at 89 percent. However, that represented only 140 additional cases. Minnesota reported the largest decrease at 36 percent but, again, their caseload dropped by only 75 cases.
- D Medical malpractice cases ranged from 15 percent (Wyoming) to 1 percent (Oregon) of total tort caseloads. The average for the 17 states shown here was 4 percent.

# Domestic Relations

Domesticatelations-

### ases unclude divorce-

asiody:-paiennies) aucustate supports

and adoption

Domestic relations cases represent approximately one-quarter of the total state trial court civil caseload. However, these cases differ from other civil cases in that they must, by definition, involve actions between family members or persons considered to be involved in a domestic relationship. For this reason, domestic relations caseloads are discussed independently of state court civil caseloads.

Domestic violence, which was previously reported as a domestic relations case type, is now reported as a criminal case type. A new case type, civil protection/restraining order, has been added to the domestic relations caseload. These changes provide for more specific reporting of the criminal versus civil nature of domestic violence.

# Future Domestic Relations Case Reporting in the *State Court Guide to Statistical Reporting*, 2003

Consistent reporting of domestic relations caseloads can be difficult due to the unique characteristics of domestic relations cases. For example, custody issues may be decided during divorce proceedings or through the post-judgment activity of a divorce case. Custody decisions may also be made without divorce proceedings if the parties involved are not married. Due to these types of variations within domestic relations cases, the *State Court Guide to Statistical Reporting, 2003* includes a domestic relations case reporting section that is much more detailed and, for the first time, separate from the civil case reporting section.

For additional information on the *Guide*, please refer to the NCSC website at: www.ncsconline.org/d\_research/statistical\_reporting\_2003/index.html.

D Domestic relations caseloads are currently divided into five case types: divorce, custody, paternity, interstate support, and adoption. In 2002, state courts reported a record high of 4.7 million domestic

relations filings.

filingsine

D Total filings in 2002 represent a 4 percent increase over the 4.5 million filings reported in 2001, and a 9 percent increase from the 4.3 million filings reported in 1998. Domestic Relations Filings in State Trial Courts, 1993-2002



- D Approximately 70 percent of domestic relations cases are filed in general jurisdiction courts. In 2002, this equaled just over 3.3 million filings.
- D Limited jurisdiction courts experienced a higher growth rate than general jurisdiction courts. In 4 of the 10 years shown in the trend, limited jurisdiction courts reported filing increases of 4 or 5 percent while general jurisdiction courts reported increases of 1 to 3 percent.
- Domestic relations filings decreased in both general and limited jurisdiction courts in 1998. Since that year, filings have increased by 12 percent in limited jurisdiction courts and 8 percent in general jurisdiction courts (a total increase of 9 percent).

Domestic Relations Cases Filed in State Trial Courts by Court Jurisdiction, 1993-2002



#### Growih rates varied widely among domestic relations case types

## Percent Change in Domestic Relations Filings by Case Type, 1993 v. 2001



#### Divorce

- D Divorce cases (including annulments) are actions that result in the dissolution of a marriage. The most dramatic decrease was seen recently when total filings in 44 states fell 5 percent from nearly 1.5 million in 2001 to just under 1.4 million in 2002.
- D After edging up slightly in the first four years shown here, divorce filings reached their highest level of about 1,480,000 in 1997, but have since decreased by 6 percent.

#### Custody

- D In addition to child custody cases, the custody caseload described here includes cases involving issues of visitation and support. However, custody issues that were decided as part of a divorce case are not counted in the custody caseload.
- D In the twenty-six states reporting separate custody caseloads, filings increased by 36 percent, from approximately 810,000 in 1993 to 1.1 million in 2002.
- D Custody filings have increased at an average of 3 percent a year for the last ten years. The greatest increase (6 percent) occurred in 1997.

- D The greatest increase in filings among all domestic relations case types occurred in custody cases (36 percent) while interstate support filings fell by an almost equivalent percentage.
- D Adoption cases increased moderately (9 percent) from 1993 to 2002.
- D Filings in both divorce and paternity cases have decreased by 3 percent and 13 percent, respectively, over the past ten years.







#### Paternity

- A paternity case is one in which the identity or responsibilities of the father of a minor child are established. Paternity cases were reported by 25 states for the time period 1993 to 2002.
- D The decline in paternity filings began in 1996. Between 1996 and 1999, filings decreased by 22 percent. After increasing slightly in 2000 and 2001, paternity filings have again decreased, with states reporting fewer filings in 2002 than in any other year in the trend.

#### Interstate Support

- D Interstate support cases involve requests for support from a person living in a different state who is required by Title IV-D of the Social Security Act of 1973 to provide such support. Data from 27 states show a decrease that started in 1995 and continued through 2000 at an average rate of 10 percent per year.
- Interstate support filings began increasing in 2001.
   After reaching a low of 74,000 cases in 2000, filings have increased 15 percent to 85,000 in 2002.

#### Adoption

- D Adoption cases request the establishment of a new, permanent relationship of parent and child between persons not having that relationship naturally. As reported by 39 states, adoption filings increased by 9 percent from 1993 to 2002, with most of the increase occurring between 1996 and 1998.
- D Since reaching a high of 82,600 filings in 1998, adoption caseloads have experienced an overall decreased 3 percent overall despite the 1 percent increase in filings reported in 2002.







#### States varied in the amount of detail reported for domestic relations cases

- For 2002, 14 states were able to report filings for each of the domestic relations case types (indicated with state names in bold type). Of these states, Ohio reported the most filings per 100,000 population (1,959) while Louisiana reported the fewest (555).
- Divorce filings, the only case type reported by all 37 states listed, range from 92 percent of the domestic relations caseload in Montana to 7 percent of the caseload in Louisiana. (Montana, however, does not report separate custody or interstate support filings, and these cases may be included in divorce caseloads.)
- D Interstate support filings are the least reported of the domestic relations case types and rarely comprise more than 10 percent of a state's domestic relations caseload. However, in 2002, both Iowa and Rhode Island reported interstate support caseloads of more than 40 percent.
- Adoption filings were reported by 35 states in 2002. While 15 states reported that adoption comprised more than 5 percent of their domestic relations caseloads, Alaska reported the highest percentage of adoption filings (11 percent).

#### Domestic Relations Caseload Composition in 37 States, 2002

	Filings per		Percent of Caseload					
<b>e</b>	100,000	Total	Discourse	0		Interstate	Adaptian	Other
State	Population	DR Filings	Divorce	Custody	Paternity	Support	Adoption	Other
Delaware <sup>2.3</sup>	4,423	35,708	14%	63%	0%	0%	1%	22%
North Dakota <sup>3</sup>	2,955	18,736	23	48	9		2	19
Pennsylvania <sup>2, 3,*</sup>	2,838	350,055	13	85			1	1
Vermont <sup>3</sup>	2,720	16,773	44	44	7		3	3
New Jersey <sup>2, 3</sup>	2,625	225,535	28	69			1	1
Ohio	1,959	223,775	23	54	9	2	3	10
lowa1	1,944	57,102	35		9	49	3	3
Mississippi	1,696	48,706	36	34	7	1	2	21
Maryland <sup>3</sup>	1,665	90,895	40	25	31		5	
Arkansas <sup>3</sup>	1,649	44,685	49	28	13		4	7
North Carolina <sup>2, 4</sup>	1,583	131,730	58	40		0		2
Dist.of Columbia	1,517	8,662	45	10	29	10	7	
Nevada	1,407	30,575	60	4	1	26	3	6
Tennessee	1,398	81,069	42	39	4	4	4	7
Massachusetts	1,380	88,713	25	2	37	1	3	31
South Dakota <sup>2</sup>	1,259	9,579	44	26		23	5	1
West Virginia <sup>3</sup>	1,226	22,084	58	18	8		4	12
New Mexico <sup>3</sup>	1,221	22,650	59	16	16		3	7
Idaho <sup>2.3</sup>	1,120	15,027	84	10			7	
Oregon	1,102	38,814	49	10	7	1	5	28
Indiana1	1,064	65,554	61		25	5	6	3
Missouri⁴	1,053	59,710	52	2	17	3		26
Kansas <sup>1</sup>	1,039	28,223	59		14	5	7	16
Michigan	1.039	104,374	49	15	17	5	6	7
Wisconsin	969	52,735	42	16	29	4	4	5
Colorado	960	43,261	61	6	19	2	7	6
Montana <sup>1, 3</sup>	958	8,717	92		1		7	
New Hampshire	934	11,913	57	19	4	1	6	13
Puerto Rico <sup>3</sup>	909	35,091	58	36	1		1	4
Alaska'	887	5,713	65		8	7	11	9
Hawaii'	863	10,746	53		24	5	6	12
Washington	857	52,040	63	6	18	1	6	6
Rhode Island <sup>1,2</sup>	849	9,082	48			42	6	4
Connecticut <sup>a</sup>	846	29,290	50	31	8		4	6
Minnesota <sup>1,2</sup>	756	37,965	47			38	6	9
Utah	718	16,641	75	6	7	1	9	
Louisiana	555	24,901	7	55	26	4	6	2

Bolded states reported data in all categories.

<sup>1</sup>Custody support filings are underrepresented and may be counted in other categories.

<sup>2</sup>Paternity filings are underrepresented and may be counted in other categories.

<sup>3</sup>Interstate support filings are underrepresented and may be counted in other categories.

"Adoption filings are underrepresented and may be counted in other categories.

\*The data for Pennsylvania are preliminary figures provided by the PA AOC.

Note: Totals may not sum due to rounding.

Divorce filings comprised more then 40 percent of domestic relations caseloads

- D In 2002, 23 courts in 18 states reported complete filing data for each of the domestic relations case types.
- D Divorce and custody filings comprised close to three-quarters of the 2002 domestic relations caseload with divorce cases being filed almost twice as often as custody cases.
- D Paternity and other domestic relations cases each comprised 11 percent of the domestic relations caseload. Other domestic relations filings include such cases as termination of parental rights and permission for minors to marry.
- D Adoption and interstate support cases together represented 7 percent of the domestic relations caseload. For 2002, this equaled more than 57,000 filings.

Divorce	43%
Custody	28%
Other	11%
Paternity	11%
Adoption	4%
Interstate Support	3%

Domestic Relations Caseload Composition in 23 Courts, 2002
D Domestic relations cases were previously reported as part of the civil caseload.

medeiew

Theprevious domesticitele

distinctions

 Despite the different nature of the cases, support and custody filings were combined as one case type.

D Interstate support cases were identified separately from other support cases, but total support cases could not be determined due to the inclusion of custody filings.

D Domestic violence, while actually a criminal case, was reported as part of the civil domestic relations caseload.

D The original matrix did not distinguish between cases that involved divorce versus cases that did not. Domestic Relations Prototype (State Court Model Statistical Dictionary, 1989)

CIVIL	
	Tort
	Auto tort
	Product liability
	Medical malpractice
	Unclassified tort
	Miscellaneous tort
	Contract
	Real property rights
	Small claims
	Domestic relations
	Marriage dissolution
	Support/custody
	Interstate support
	Adoption
	Paternity
	Domestic violence
	Miscellaneous
	Unclassified
	Estate
	Probate/wills/intestate
	Guardianship/conservatorship/trusteeship
	Miscellaneous estate
	Unclassified estate
	Mental health
	Appeal
	Appeal of administrative agency case
	Appeal of trial court case
	Total civil appeals
	Miscellaneous civil
	Unclassified civil

New case type distinctions allow for better reporting of domestic relations caseloads

- D The domestic relations section now provides for the identification of custody, support, and visitation filings that occur either in the absence of divorce proceedings or as post-judgment divorce proceedings.
- D Support cases are now divided between Title IV-D, private, or other filings. This change allows courts to accurately record and analyze support caseloads that may qualify for federal government financial support.
- D Visitation has been added as a case type separate from custody to further refine the nature of cases that are filed with the state courts.
- Domestic violence cases have been removed from the domestic relations section and moved into criminal. Civil protection/ restraining order cases have been added.

Domestic Relations - Caseload Summary Matrix (State Court Guide to Statistical Reporting, 2003)

Newly Filed or Reopened Cases Marriage Dissolution/Divorce Paternity Custody (non-divorce) Support (non-divorce) **IV-D** Intrastate IV-D UIFSA IV-D Other Private (non-IV-D) Other Support (non-divorce) Visitation (non-divorce) Adoption **Civil Protection/Restraining Order Other Domestic Relations Reopened Cases** Custody (divorce) Support (divorce) **IV-D** Intrastate IV-D UIFSA IV-D Other Private (non-IV-D) Other Support (divorce) Visitation (divorce)

# Criminal

... about 15 parant

of the total state trial

court filings during

2002 ånvolved

criminal cases

For many, the perception of our court system is based largely upon what takes place in the criminal courts, despite the fact that only about 15 percent of the total state trial court filings during 2002 involved criminal cases. The criminal caseload in state trial courts consists of felonies, misdemeanors, domestic violence, Driving While Intoxicated (DWI, also referred to as Driving Under the Influence (DUI)), and other miscellaneous case types. Except in states with unified court systems, felonies and domestic violence cases are typically filed in general jurisdiction courts, while preliminary hearings, DWIs, and misdemeanors are usually handled in limited jurisdiction courts. By far, the majority of criminal cases are processed in state rather than federal trial courts.

This year, as a result of a reorganization prompted by the recently released *State Court Guide to Statistical Reporting, 2003*, domestic violence cases will be examined along with the criminal cases in this section rather than in conjunction with the domestic relations caseloads. For more information and downloads of the *Guide*, please go to the National Center for State Courts Web site at: www.ncsconline.org/d\_research/statistical\_reporting\_2003/index.html.

The most high profile and time-consuming cases in state courts involve capital punishment, almost all of which are cases in which defendants are charged with specific types of murder. These cases demand tremendous amounts of time from judges, juries, court staff, and witnesses. Capital cases are relatively rare compared to other types of felony cases. The final pages of this section examine twentyfive years of capital punishment data collected by the Bureau of Justice Statistics, complemented by other sources.

## 15.5 million ariminal cases were reported in 2002, up almost 4 percent from 2001

- D Total criminal filings in the state courts grew by 19 percent over the past 10 years. However, the growth in criminal filings between 2001 and 2002 represents the first increase since 1998.
- D Most of the increase in criminal filings from 2001 to 2002 was due to an increase in limited jurisdiction court filings. The top line in this chart shows a sharp increase (up 3.6 percent) compared to general jurisdiction courts, although general jurisdiction court filings also increased from 2001 to 2002 (up 1.9 percent).
- For the 46 states able to report comparable data, felony filings increased 22 percent from 1993 to 2002. The total number of felony filings in these states during 2002 was roughly 2.3 million.
- D Over the 10-year period shown, domestic violence filings were up in both limited and general jurisdiction courts for the 40 states able to report comparable data.





# Percent Growth in Criminal Filings by Court Jurisdiction, 1993-2002



#### Felony Filings in Unified and General Jurisdiction Courts in 46 States, 1993-2002



# Domestic Violence Filings in General and Limited Jurisdiction Courts in 40 States, 1993-2002





- By definition, the composition of criminal filings differs among unified, general, and limited jurisdiction courts. Unified court systems are those in which trial courts are consolidated into a single general jurisdiction court level.
- D Because unified courts have jurisdiction over all criminal cases, misdemeanors dominate their caseloads and represented over half of the criminal cases filed. Felonies comprised about 20 percent, while Driving While Intoxicated (DWI) cases and domestic violence cases combined for another 20 percent.
- Due to the inherent structural differences between unified and general jurisdiction courts, 64 percent of the criminal cases filed in general jurisdiction courts were felony cases, while only 11 percent were misdemeanors. Domestic violence cases ranked second to felonies and accounted for 14 percent of the caseload.
- D Misdemeanor and DWI cases together represented almost the entire criminal caseload in the limited jurisdiction courts (94 percent). Felony and domestic violence cases made up the remainder.

#### Criminal Caseload Composition in State Courts, 2002



## Population size does not determine ariminal filing rates

- D There is a broad range in the number of criminal filings across the states: California reported the largest number of filings (746,907) while Alaska reported the fewest (3,550). It is important to bear in mind that California and the other 11 unified courts listed here are reporting their entire criminal caseloads (felony and misdemeanor) while most of the filings reported in the general jurisdiction courts are felonies.
- D Although criminal caseloads in a state are typically proportionate to the size of the state's population, states with the fewest residents are not necessarily reporting the smallest populationadjusted filing rates.
- D Four states (New Hampshire, Utah, Vermont, and Wisconsin) use charges as their unit of count rather than defendants. This tends to overstate the number of filings, and thus the number of filings per 100,000 population.

Total Criminal Filings and Rates in Unified and General Jurisdiction Courts in
49 States, 2002

49 States, 2002						
01-1-		Filings per	Filing Rate	Population		
State	Filings	100,000 Population	Rank	Rank		
Unified Courts						
District of Columbia	43,431	7,607	1	51		
Minnesota	317,737	6,330	2	21		
North Dakota	39,773	6,272	3	49		
Illinois	610,433	4,844	4	5		
Missouri	240,163	4,234	5	17		
South Dakota	31,933	4,196	6	47		
Connecticut	116,964	3,380	10	30		
lowa	94,201	3,208	12	31		
Wisconsin	148,122	2,722	14	20		
Puerto Rico	89,588	2,322	17	27		
California	746,907	2,127	19	1		
Kansas	56,775	2,090	20	33		
General Jurisdiction C	ourts					
Indiana	245,816	3,991	7	14		
Vermont	24,549	3,981	8	50		
Louisiana	155,818	3,476	9	24		
Oregon	117,795	3,345	11	28		
Arkansas	76,196	2,812	13	34		
South Carolina	107,423	2,615	15	25		
Utah	60,431	2,609	16	35		
Virginia	166,389	2,281	18	12		
New Mexico	32,582	1,756	21	37		
Pennsylvania*	214,717	1,741	22	6		
Florida	286,266	1,713	23	4		
North Carolina	140,228	1,685	24	11		
Tennessee	94,626	1,632	25	16		
Alabama	70,849	1,579	26	23		
Maryland	82,958	1,520	27	18		
New Jersey	127,695	1,487	28	9		
Georgia	108,255	1,265	29	10		
Hawaii	13,930	1,119	30	43		
Delaware	8,941	1,107	31	46		
New Hampshire	13,965	1,095	32	42		
Michigan	104,974	1,044	33	8		
Arizona	55,764	1,022	34	19		
Nevada	22,175	1,020	35	36		
Washington	58,253	960	36	15		
ldaho	12,020	896	37	40		
Colorado	39,147	869	38	22		
Texas	185,713	853	39	2		
Ohio	96,070	841	40	7		
Montana	7,046	775	41	45		
Maine	9,311	719	42	41		
Kentucky	25,243	617	43	26		
Rhode Island	6,339	593	44	44		
Nebraska	10,027	580	45	39		
Alaska	3,550	551	46	48		
West Virginia	7,451	414	47	38		
New York	53,264	278	48	3		
Massachusetts	5,621	87	49	13		

\*The data for Pennsylvania are preliminary figures provided by the PA AOC.

Note: Mississippi, Oklahoma, and Wyoming are not included because data were not available for 2002.

#### Criminal

# Domestic violence filing rates were equally high in less populous states

- D Comparable domestic violence data was available for 26 states for 2000 through 2002. Not surprisingly, the raw number of filings in 2002 tended to be highest for more populous states (e.g., Florida, New Jersey, Illinois, Pennsylvania) and lowest for smaller states (North Dakota, South Dakota, Vermont, Hawaii).
- D From 2000 to 2002, the largest percentage increases in filings were reported by Arizona, Maryland, Hawaii, and Ohio; the largest decreases were reported by the District of Columbia, Florida, Tennessee, and Washington.
- Domestic violence filing rates ranged from a high of 1,446 filings per 100,000 population in the District of Columbia to a low of 106 per 100,000 population in Maryland. The median number of domestic violence filings per 100,000 population was 372 (the rate for Michigan). The wide range of differences is due, in part, to varying local and statewide reporting practices.
- D A few less populous states, such as New Mexico and Nevada, reported a relatively high domestic violence filing rate.

	Dome:	stic Violence I	Filings —	Percent Change	Filings per
State	2000	2001	2002	2000-2002	100,000 population
Unified Courts					
District of Columbia	9,093	8,485	8,253	-9%	1,446
Missouri	40,409	41,095	43,276	7	763
Minnesota	28,510	28,964	28,636	0	<b></b> 570
Illinois	50,205	51,241	50,731	1	403
South Dakota	2,562	2,616	2,899	13	381
Kansas	7,660	8,325	8,859	16	326
North Dakota	1,336	1,341	1,422	6	224
Iowa	5,359	5,907	6,280	17	214
Connecticut	5,538	6,002	5,981	8	173
General Jurisdiction Co	ourts				
New Jersey	71,977	71,252	73,005	1	850
Vermont**	4,238	3,978	4,005	-5	650
New Mexico	11,553	11,766	11,933	3	643
Florida	90,262	97,288	80,624	-11	482
Nevada	9,176	9,299	9,984	9	459
Indiana	23,687	26,796	26,532	12	431
Oregon	14,528	14,622	14,341	-1	407
Michigan	34,646	35,447	37,413	8	372
Hawaii	3,570	4,027	4,623	29	371
Pennsylvania*	39582	42430	41576	5	337
Arkansas	8,578	8,513	8,764	2	323
Utah**	6,183	6,052	6,105	-1	264
Washington	16,535	15,740	15,410	-7	254
Ohio	13,295	15,401	17.007	28	149
Arizona	4,735	6,496	7,960	68	□ 146
Tennessee	7,734	7,083	6,872	-11	L 119
Maryland	4,048	4,738	5,768	42	<u> </u>

#### Domestic Violence Caseloads in Unified and General Jurisdiction Courts in 26 States, 2000-2002

\* The data for Pennsylvania are preliminary figures provided by the PA AOC.

\*\* Both Vermont and Utah use charges as the criminal unit of count.

# Several states had felony caseload growth rates in excess of 20 percent

Since 2000, felony caseload growth has averaged 9 percent. The largest increase occurred in the District of Columbia (45 percent) and the greatest decrease occurred in Tennessee (-11 percent).

D Each state with a unified court system experienced some level of growth while 6 of the 32 states with a twotiered system reported decreases in their felony caseloads.

				Percent Change
State	2000	2001	2002	2000-2002
Unified Courts				
District of Columbia	10,308	14,896	14,902	45%
North Dakota	4,500	5,084	5,937	32
Minnesota	22,262	24,448	27,785	25
lowa	20,396	21,767	24,654	21
Missouri	58,728	60,337	67,726	15
South Dakota	5,049	4,826	5,631	12
Puerto Rico	35,327	36,906	39,333	11
Wisconsin	28,390	30,069	30,564	8
Connecticut	33,745	33,762	36,286	8
Illinois	97,077	101,463	103,642	7
California	238,685	237,491	242,760	2
Kansas	17,234	16,876	17,437	1
	,	,•. •	.,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	•
General Jurisdiction Courts				
New Hampshire	6,680	7,914	7,902	18%
Indiana	55,371	60,381	64,626	17
New Jersey	46,000	51,225	53,295	16
Georgia	73,897	74,326	84,980	15
Ohio	68,923	76,830	79,063	15
Nebraska	7,642	7,786	8,678	14
Arizona	40,208	43,462	45,322	13
Kentucky	22,041	22,934	24,788	12
Massachusetts	5,018	5,009	5,621	12
West Virginia	4,349	5,042	4,871	12
Arkansas	48,930	50,903	53,986	10
Hawaii	4,294	4,561	4,724	10
New Mexico	15,581	17,522	17,125	10
Colorado	35,767	36,859	39,146	9
Texas	148,347	145,143	160,525	8
North Carolina	93,602	95,953	100,729	8
Pennsylvania*	162,414	167,773	173,141	7
Idaho	10,074	10,694	10,738	7
Vermont	3,447	3,243	3,654	6
Virginia	105,909	108,164	112,107	6
Washington	39,694	41,387	41,908	6
Maryland	67,633	71,511	70,853	5
Alabama	34,707	35,451	36,173	4
Oregon	35,727	35,712	36,411	2
Rhode Island	5,551	5,594	5,621	1
Louisiana	53.584	54.012	53,482	0
New York	53,932	52,500	53,264	-1
Utah	17,665	16,415	17,269	-2
Nevada	10,284	9,950	9,856	-2 -4
Alaska	3,281	2,964	9,858 3,100	-4 -6
Florida	193,845	198,822	179,757	-6 -7
Tennessee	62,076	63,152		
	02,070	00,102	55,501	-11

Felony Caseloads in 44 States, 2000-2002

\*The data for Pennsylvania are preliminary figures provided by the PA AOC.

D

## Seven states reduced pending felony caseloads

- D Clearance rates provide a basic measure of how well the court is keeping up with its workload. A clearance rate of 100 percent indicates a court disposed of as many cases as were filed during the year. A court with a clearance rate greater than 100 percent has disposed of more cases than were filed in that year, thereby reducing its pending caseload. Clearance rates are influenced by, among other things, the manner in which cases are disposed, the efficiency with which courts process cases, and the rate of caseload growth.
- D The last column in the table shows a three-year clearance rate in order to smooth yearly fluctuations and to provide a more representative clearance rate.
- D At the high end, seven states appear to be reducing pending caseloads: Alabama, Idaho, New Jersey, New York, Rhode Island, Utah, and Wisconsin each had rates at or above 101 percent. At the other end of the spectrum, six states had clearance rates below 90 percent: Connecticut, North Dakota, Missouri, California, Florida, and Hawaii.

Felony Clearance Rates in Unified and General Jurisdiction Courts in 35 States, 2000-2002

		es		
State	2000	2001	2002	2000-2002
Unified Courts				
Wisconsin	105%	103%	102%	103%
District of Columbia	103	99	100	100
Illinois	94	90	116	100
Puerto Rico	105	96	95	98
Minnesota	94	95	93	94
Connecticut	89	86	83	86
North Dakota	92	87	81	86
Missouri	92	88	78	85
California	84	81	77	80
General Jurisdiction Courts				
New York	108	105	105	106
Utah	105	114	99	106
Rhode Island	100	104	104	103
Alabama	106	100	101	102
Idaho	98	95	112	102
New Jersey	102	98	102	101
Texas	102	102	97	100
Pennsylvania*	99	101	100	100
Indiana	101	99	97	99
Tennessee	100	99	97	99
Massachusetts	114	98	85	98
Ohio	99	96	98	98
Virginia	95	99	99	98
Oregon	99	98	95	97
West Virginia	100	91	102	97
North Carolina	98	97	97	97
Maryland	96	95	95	95
Arkansas	94	96	92	94
New Mexico	94	93	95	94
Arizona	90	95	96	94
Vermont	91	101	87	93
Kentucky	96	90	89	91
New Hampshire	99	88	88	91
Washington	89	89	91	90
Florida	82	90	94	89
Hawaii	97	83	84	88

\*The data for Pennsylvania are preliminary figures provided by the PA AOC.

# Very few felony cases are ultimately resolved by a trial

- D For the 21 states that could report, approximately 3 percent of felony cases were resolved by trial in 2002. The vast majority of cases were disposed of without a trial, primarily through the entering of negotiated guilty pleas or dismissals.
- D Rates at which juries disposed of felony cases typically ranged from 2 to 4 percent across the states examined. Non-jury (bench) trial rates ranged from about 1 percent in Vermont to 9 percent in Puerto Rico.
- D The majority (65 percent) of felony cases were resolved by guilty pleas. About one in three cases ends with a dismissal or is disposed of through some other method (including deferred adjudication and transfers to other court jurisdictions).

	Total	Total	- Perce	ent Trial —	Total	Perc	ent Non-Tria	.I
State	Disposed	Trials	Jury	Non-Jury	Non-Trials	Guilty Plea	Dismiss	Other
Unified Courts								
California	185,881	7,898	3%	1%	177,983	73%	21%	2%
Puerto Rico	37,739	3,606	1	9	34,133	65	13	13
Missouri	33,521	935	2	1	32,586	81	1	15
Minnesota	26,030	929	3	1	25,101	61	18	17
lowa	21,862	865	1	3	20,997	70	20	6
Kansas	18,290	622	3	1	17.668	65	21	11
District of Columbia	9,884	438	4	0	9,446	35	24	37
South Dakota	4,315	149	3	0	4,166	46	29	21
General Jurisdiction Cou	ırts							
Texas	213,114	4,791	2	1	208,323	41	14	43
Florida	169,870	4,091	2	0	165,779	79	11	8
North Carolina	97,691	2,143	2	N/J	95,548	61	35	1
Ohio	77,848	2,452	2	1	75,396	68	7	22
New York	62,604	2,888	4	1	59,716	87	6	2
Indiana	57,905	2,258	2	2	55,647	67	19	11
New Jersey	54,271	1,573	2	0	52,698	69	16	12
Arkansas	49,564	2,929	1	5	46,635	60	6	28
Washington	38,378	2,426	4	2	35,952	76	16	2
New Mexico	17,564	1,481	2	6	16,083	37	5	50
Rhode Island	5,848	74	n/a	n/a	5,774	90	8	1
Alaska	3,320	151	4	0	3,169	74	20	1
Vermont	3,191	50	2	0	3,141	78	2	18
Total	1,188,690	42,749	2%	1%	1,145,941	65%	16%	16%

# Manner of Disposition for Felony Cases Filed in 21 Unified and General Jurisdiction Courts, 2002

N/J = no jurisdiction n/a = not available

Note: Totals may not sum due to rounding.

## Thirty-eight states and the federal government use the death penalty

#### **Death Penalty States**



States with a Death Penalty

- D Almost all death row inmates are male, and just over half have never been married.
- A slight majority are white (54 percent) while 44 percent are black. Hispanics, both black and white, make up 12 percent of all death row inmates.
- D Over half had less than a high school education, 39 percent were high school graduates (or had GEDs) and about 10 percent had at least some college education.
- D Most death row inmates had been involved in past serious crime; two-thirds had a prior felony conviction. About four in 10 were under some form of legal status (e.g., parole, probation, pending charges, incarcerated) at the time of offense, and 8 percent had a prior homicide conviction.

- D Although no state enacted new legislation authorizing capital punishment during 2002, 11 states revised statutes relating to the death penalty.
- D Illinois is the only state to have declared a moratorium on the death penalty. In the last three years, legislation proposing a moratorium on the death penalty has been introduced in 21 states. Some of these bills were defeated or deferred, and others are still pending.
- D Thirty-seven of 38 states with the death penalty provide for automatic review of all death sentences, with the highest state appellate court usually conducting the review. In South Carolina, a defendant can waive review of their sentence of death if found competent by the court.
- D The federal court system does not provide for automatic review of death sentences.

Prisoners on Death Row, 2002

Male Never Married	99%
White Black Other Hispanic	54% 2% 12%
8th grade or less 9th - 11th grade High school or GED Any college	37%           39%
Prior homicide convictions Legal status at offense Prior felony convictions	8% 40% 64%

# On average, inmetes remain on death row for more than nine years

- D The average age of death row inmates was 39 years old; the average age of these death row inmates at time of arrest was 28.
- D The adjacent graph clearly shows the difference in age distributions and the aging death row population. At the end of 2002, the youngest person on death row was 18, the oldest was 87.

Age at Time of Arrest v. Age of Death Row Inmates, 2002



- D The average elapsed time since sentencing for inmates under sentence of death at the end of 2002 was just over 9 years;
  6.9 years for women and 9.2 years for men.
- D The average elapsed time since sentencing was highest for whites at 9.4 years and lowest for Hispanics at 7.9 years.

# Average Elapsed Time on Death Row (in Years) since Sentencing, 2002



15

- D The average years under death sentence ranged from a high of 11.3 years in Tennessee and Utah to a low of 3 years in Virginia.
- D Ten other states have average times of 10 years or more. An additional six jurisdictions (including the Federal system) show inmates spend between four and seven years on death row.



#### Average Years Under Sentence of Death by State, 1973-2002

## More persons were sentenced to death than were executed

- D The number of persons sentenced to death in the United States began rising in the late 1970s following the reinstatement of the death penalty.
- D The number of persons executed increased through the 1980s, then climbed dramatically through the 1990s, followed by a sharp drop over the last few years.
- D The latest Gallup Poll (October 2003) finds that 64 percent of Americans support the death penalty, the lowest level since 1978. The highest level of support (80 percent) was in 1990 and the lowest was in 1966 (42 percent).
- D Gallup found that, when given a choice between the death penalty and life without the possibility of parole (LWOP) as the appropriate punishment for murder, public support for the death penalty declines to 53 percent, compared to 44 percent support for LWOP. These numbers have remained fairly constant since the 1980s.
- D Possible explanatory factors for the decline in executions and shift in public opinion about capital punishment include the 13 highly publicized DNA-based exonerations of innocent death row inmates, public opposition to the execution of mentally retarded defendants, and publication of studies questioning the fairness of the application of the death penalty and possible bias in its use.
- D Although some states authorize more than one method of execution, roughly 80 percent of executions are carried out by lethal injection.

Method of Execution, 1977-2002

79.8% 37 States, U.S. Military, U.S. Government Lethal Injection 654 Electrocution 18.3 8 States; sole method in Nebraska 150 4 States; all have lethal injection as an alternative Lethal Gas 1.3 11 Hanging 3 .4 3 States; all have lethal injection as an alternative 3 States; all have lethal injection as an alternative Firing Squad 2 .2 Total 820

Source: Death Penalty Information Center, State Web sites.



Total Sentenced to Death in the United States, 1977-2002





# States vary widely in execution and commutation rates

- D The table shows which states are ranked in the top 5 for number of offenders on death row, executions, commutations, and overturned death sentences.
- D From 1973 to 2002, California and Pennsylvania, with very low execution and commutation rates, have left the largest percent of persons on death row. Ohio, Alabama, Illinois, and Nevada also have large percentages of persons remaining on death row.
- D Virginia is the most likely state to carry out executions (64 percent) for those who receive death penalty sentences. The execution rate in Missouri is next highest at 35 percent, followed by Texas, Delaware, and Arkansas.
- D States in which 50 percent or more of those sentenced to death have had their sentences overturned are Colorado, New Jersey, New Mexico, North Carolina, Maryland, Mississippi, Washington and Wyoming.
- Commutation of a death sentence is rare. The sole exception to this pattern in the last twenty-five years is New Mexico, where 5 of the 28 death sentences were commuted by then-Governor Anaya in 1986.

## Result of Death Sentences in 33 States, 1973-2002

State	Total Sentenced to Death, 1973-2002	Remaining on Death Row	Executed	Overturned	Commuted
Texas	0.05				
Florida	925 872	49%	31%	12%	5%
California		42	6	46	2
North Carolina	795	77	1	15	2
Ohio	504 367	41	5	50	2
Pennsylvania	352	56	1	37	3
Alabama	352	68	1	25	1
Oklahoma		56	7	31	1
Georgia	313	36	18	43	0
Illinois	299	37	10	46	2
Arizona	294	54	4	33	1
Anzona	239	50	9	33	3
Louisiana	214	40	13	42	3
Tennessee	204	47	0	46	1
South Carolina	179	40	16	40	2
Mississippi	173	38	3	55	0
Missouri	167	40	35	19	1
Virginia	137	17	64	9	7
Nevada	135	61	7	21	3
Arkansas	99	40	24	31	2
Indiana	97	37	9	47	2
Kentucky	75	48	3	44	1
Maryland	52	29	6	54	8
New Jersey	51	27	0	51	0
Oregon	51	51	4	43	0
Delaware	48	29	, 27	44	0
Idaho	40	50	3	38	8
Washington	38	26	11	61	0
New Mexico	28	7	4	68	18
Nebraska	27	26	11	44	7
Utah	26	42	23	31	4
Colorado	19	26	5	53	4 5
Montana	15	40	13	53 40	5 7
Wyoming	11	18	9	40 64	
		10	5	04	0

Numbers in blue are the top five percentages for each death sentence result.

# Death penalty cases cost far more to adjudicate

- D Due to constitutional safeguards, established because a sentence of death is irreversible, death penalty cases cost much more than similar cases adjudicated noncapitally (that is, where the maximum sentence is life imprisonment without the possibility of parole).
- D The most rigorous study to date, completed by Duke University for the North Carolina Administrative Office of the Courts, found that the extra cost of imposing a death sentence is over \$250,000 per case, and the extra cost per execution exceeds 2 million dollars per case.
- D Other studies of the cost of execution in Texas, Florida, and California arrive at estimates from 2 to 3 million dollars per case.
- D These costs are the result of higher trial rates for capital cases; in addition, death penalty trials have: a) a more extensive jury selection process; b) a higher number of motions filed; c) a longer, dual trial process involving one trial to establish guilt or innocence and another to impose sentence; d) more extensive use of investigators and experts; and, e) the added cost of mandatory appeals.

# Juvenile

# Dispositions are

designed to both bold the jovenile accountable and address

ibe problems ibat

anderlie abear bebevior.

For court statistics purposes, a juvenile is defined as a youth at or below the upper age limit for juvenile court jurisdiction. This age limit varies among states, and ranges from 15 years of age to 18 years of age; in the majority of states, the limit is age 17. In most states, there are exceptions to this age criteria that allow juveniles to be adjudicated as adults, but this report deals only with cases adjudicated in juvenile court.

Juvenile cases comprise primarily delinquency, dependency (childvictim), and status offense cases. Juvenile delinquency is defined as an act committed by a juvenile that, if committed by an adult, would result in prosecution in criminal court. Dependency cases (also known as child-victim cases) request the protection of children who are allegedly abused or neglected. Status offense cases are non-criminal misbehaviors that are illegal only for juveniles (e.g., truancy, running away from home).

Over the past decade, much attention has been paid to the changing role of juvenile courts. This section summarizes state juvenile court activity using two measures: number of cases filed and number of cases disposed. If a decision is made to formally handle a juvenile case that has been referred to the court, a petition is filed and the case is placed on the juvenile court calendar.

A case becomes disposed when the court takes some definite action on the basis of a referral. Dispositions typically involve a package of sanctions or a treatment plan designed to both hold the juvenile accountable and to address the child's underlying problems. The following pages draw on national juvenile court disposition estimates obtained from the National Center for Juvenile Justice (NCJJ). More detailed juvenile court data and information may be found through the Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention (OJJDP) Web site at: www.ojjdp.ncjrs.org/ojstatbb/ezajcs.

# Total juvenile filings have been slowly declining over the last four years

- D Juvenile filings comprise primarily delinquency, dependency, and status offense cases.
- D Most juvenile cases (64 percent) are filed in general jurisdiction courts.
- The number of filings in both limited and general jurisdiction courts increased without interruption between 1993 and 1998. Since 1999, the number of filings has declined by 4 percent.
- D Delinquency cases accounted for the overwhelming majority of the 2002 juvenile caseload.
- D Together, dependency and status offense cases made up 37 percent of 2002 juvenile filings.

Total Juvenile Cases Filed in State Trial Courts by Jurisdiction, 1993-2002



Juvenile Caseload Composition in 26 States, 2002

Delinquency		60%
Dependency	21%	
Status	16%	
Other	3%	



Drug offenders and temples accounted for a growing percentage of cases

- D Exact counts of juvenile court delinquency dispositions are not readily available. However, the National Center for Juvenile Justice (NCJJ) does provide national estimates generalized from a sample of courts. More detailed delinquency data and information is found at: www.ojjdp.ncjrs.org/ojstatbb/ezajcs.
- Juvenile delinquency dispositions increased by 40 percent between 1986 and 2000, from 1.18 to 1.65 million. The growth in drug cases was the highest at 175 percent. Person and public order cases increased almost 100 percent, while the number of property dispositions declined slightly (4.5 percent) from 710,000 to 680,000.
- D Females account for a growing percentage of delinquency cases disposed in juvenile court, rising from 19 percent in 1986 to nearly 25 percent in 2000.
- D The trend of increasing female representation in the delinquency caseload may require adjustments in the type of services and sanctions offered by juvenile courts.

Source: Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention, 1986-2000.

Percent Change in Delinquency Cases Disposed by Type of Offense, 1986-2000



#### Proportion of Female Cases Among Delinquency Cases Disposed, 1986-2000



The odds increased that a juvenile delinquency case will be processed formally

- D State court juvenile intake units can decide to handle delinquency cases either formally or informally. In a formal case, a petition is filed and the case is placed on the court calendar for an adjudicatory hearing. Informal cases are typically disposed of without going before a judge.
- D The proportion of delinquency cases that are handled formally has been increasing steadily since the early 1990s. In 2000, 58 percent of juvenile cases were scheduled for an adjudicatory hearing.
- D Formally processed delinquency cases may be adjudicated (judged to be either a delinquent or a status offender) or nonadjudicated (dismissed). Prior to the final adjudication hearing, the court can recommend that the juvenile take actions such as paying restitution or voluntarily attending substance abuse counseling.
- D Between 1986 and 2000, the majority (an average of 61 percent) of formally processed delinquency cases resulted in an adjudication of delinquency. NCJJ also reports whether a juvenile was placed in secure detention at some point(s) after intake but before a disposition is given to the case. Juveniles who were placed in secure detention were more likely to be judged delinquent (an average of 70 percent) than juveniles who were not placed in detention facilities (an average of 58 percent).

Manner of Handling Juvenile Delinquency Referrals, Formal v. Informal, 1986-2000



Percentage of Juveniles Adjudicated Delinquent (by Detention Placement), 1986-2000



54

Source: Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention, 1986-2000.

## Juveniles who are detained were more likely to be placed out-of-home

- D Following adjudication, a delinquency case is scheduled for a disposition hearing. Case dispositions include out-ofhome placements (usually within a residential facility), probation, release from court authority, and "other" dispositions that may require the performance of community service work or the payment of restitution and fines.
- D As with juveniles who were judged delinquent, time spent in a detention facility increases the odds of receiving an outof-home placement. In 2000, detained juveniles were more than twice as likely to receive this disposition regardless of offense type.
- D Sixty-two percent of juveniles who were not placed in detention received probation while this disposition was given to only 46 percent of detained juveniles.
- D Relatively few juveniles were released from the court's authority with no further sanction or consequence anticipated. While this disposition was used more often for non-detained than detained juveniles, it still only accounted for 3 to 5 percent (depending on offense type) of delinguency dispositions.

Type of Disposition by Type of Offense, 2000

Juveniles Deta	ained		
Placed Out-of-Home		46.7% 42.9% 44.9% 46.4%	
Probation		44.8% 47.4% 46.1% 44.8%	
Released from Court Authority	<ul> <li>2.8%</li> <li>3.6%</li> <li>2.8%</li> <li>3.3%</li> </ul>		
Other	<ul> <li>5.7%</li> <li>6.0%</li> <li>6.2%</li> <li>5.5%</li> </ul>		Public Order
Juveniles Not	Detained		<ul> <li>Drugs</li> <li>Property</li> <li>Person</li> </ul>
Placed Out-of-Home	23.3% 16.0% 17.8% 19.2%		
Probation			.0% 63.2% 63.7% 64.0%
Released from Court Authority	<ul> <li>5.1%</li> <li>6.7%</li> <li>4.3%</li> <li>6.3%</li> </ul>		
Other	13.6% 14.1% 14.2% 10.5%		

Source: Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention, 1986-2000.



Traffic cases include traffic misdemeanors (e.g., reckless driving, hit-and-run), non-criminal traffic violations (infractions), juvenile traffic violations, parking violations, ordinance violations, and other related cases. These cases represented 60 percent of all filings in state trial courts. The state trial court caseload data is supplemented by data from the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA) and the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI).

Cases that result from arrests for Driving While Intoxicated (DWI, also referred to as Driving Under the Influence (DUI)) are criminal cases but, as they result in the impaired operation of a motor vehicle, will be discussed in this section. The recently released *State Court Guide to Statistical Reporting, 2003*, provides detailed descriptions of traffic and criminal case and disposition types, as well as recommended formats for court data reporting. For more information and downloads of the *Guide*, please go to the National Center for State Courts Web site at: www.ncsconline.org/d\_research/statistical\_reporting\_2003/index.html. Flings were almost constant despite more vehicles, more drivers, and more miles driven

- D Overall, the number of traffic cases filed in state trial courts has increased only slightly (2 percent) since 1993, despite a 12 percent increase in the number of licensed drivers, a 20 percent increase in the number of registered vehicles, and a 24 percent increase in vehicle miles traveled over this same 10-year period.
- While 65 percent of all traffic cases were filed in limited jurisdiction courts in 1993, this proportion increased to 76 percent in 2002.

#### Traffic Cases Filed in State Trial Courts, 1993-2002



## DWI filings increased for the fifth straight year in 2002

- D DWI filings in the 11 states shown on this graph have increased by 12 percent in the last 10 years. Closer inspection shows that the majority of that increase (9 percent) for the reporting states occurred in 2002.
- D Two states, Maryland and Arizona, account for most of the increase seen in 2002. In Maryland, post-9/11 funding from the Federal government was used to increase police patrols and roadside checkpoints, resulting in an increase in DWI filings. Concurrently, the Blood Alcohol Concentration (BAC) level in Arizona was reduced from 0.15 in 2000 to 0.08 in 2001. This decrease resulted in over 9,000 more DWI filings in 2002.
- D The FBI estimates that arrests for driving under the influence of alcohol have fallen 24 percent in the 20 years between 1983 and 2002. Nearly all (21 percent) of that decrease occurred during the first 10 years.
- D The vertical line on the graph indicates the midpoint point in the FBI data and the point at which the above court data begins. From 1993 to 2002, the FBI data reveal fluctuating numbers of arrests culminating in a 4 percent decrease for the 10-year period.

#### DWI Filings in 11 States, 1993-2002



# Estimated Arrests for Driving Under the Influence, 1983-2002



Source: Uniform Crime Reports, 1983-2002, Federal Bureau of Investigation

#### 

- D The rate of traffic fatalities reached a new historic low in 2002 of 1.50 fatalities per 100 million miles driven, down 14 percent from 1.75 per 100 million miles driven in 1993.
- Both alcohol- and non-alcohol-related fatalities showed declines, dropping 22 percent and 8 percent, respectively.

Traffic Fatality Rates per 100 Million Miles Traveled, 1993-2002



 Similarly, the injury rate has fallen substantially (-25 percent), from 137 injuries per 100 million miles driven in 1993 to 103 injuries per 100 million miles driven in 2002. Traffic Injury Rates per 100 Million Miles Traveled, 1993-2002



Source: National Highway Traffic Safety Administration



- Every state (except New Hampshire, which has no safety belt law) has one of two types of safety belt infraction D laws: a primary law permits police officers to stop a vehicle simply because the operator or one of the other occupants in the vehicle does not have their safety belt fastened; a secondary law requires that the vehicle be stopped for some other offense (e.g., speeding, running a stop sign) before a citation for not wearing a safety belt can be issued.
- Fourteen of the 22 states with a primary safety belt law have use rates above 80 percent. Only 3 of the 29 states D with secondary laws have use rates above 80 percent, indicating that primary laws do indeed accomplish their goal of increased safety belt usage.

Safety Belt Infraction is State	Use Rates		Safety Belt Infraction is	Use Rates
Washington	92.6% -	<b>`</b>	Vermont	84.9%
California	91.1		Minnesota	80.1 Rates above 80%
Puerto Rico	90.5		Utah	80.1
Hawaii	90.4		Montana	78.4
Oregon	88.2		Pennsylvania	75.6
New Mexico	87.6		Florida	75.1
Maryland	85.6	Rates above 80%	Nevada	74.9
Dictrict of Columbia	84.6		Arizona	73.7
North Carolina	84.1		Colorado	73.2
Michigan	82.9		West Virginia	71.6
New York	82.8		Rhode Island	70.8
lowa	82.4		Virginia	70.4
Texas	81.1		Ohio	70.3
New Jersey	80.5 -	)	Nebraska	69.7
Alabama	78.7		Maine	69.4
Connecticut	78.0		Missouri	69.4
Georgia	77.0		Tennessee	66.7
Illinois	73.8		Wyoming	66.6
Indiana	72.2		South Carolina	66.3
Delaware	71.2		Wisconsin	66.1
Oklahoma	70.1		Alaska	65.8
Louisiana	68.6		South Dakota	64.0
Average	77.4		Arkansas	63.7
5			North Dakota	63.4
			Idaho	62.9
			Kentucky	62.0
			Mississippi	62.0
			Kansas	61.3
			Massachusetts	51.0
			Average	66.4

#### Safety Belt Usage Rates: States with Primary and Secondary Seat Belt Infraction Laws

# Appellate

# Appellate courts,

as the final arbiters.

# of disputes: shape: nd define the law,

Appellate courts, whether at the intermediate or highest level, provide review of decisions of lower courts and, as the final arbiters of disputes, shape and define the law. In most states, appellate courts are required to review decisions in criminal cases when the defendant is sentenced to death. Appellate courts are also responsible for disciplining attorneys and judges for serious violations of ethics and conduct.

Most states divide their appellate system into two levels: an intermediate appellate court (IAC), which renders a first level of trial court review, and a court of last resort (COLR), which handles the most critical and important matters and appeals from the IACs. Only eleven states and the District of Columbia function without an IAC, while two states, Oklahoma and Texas, have more than one COLR.

Many of the analyses included here make a distinction between mandatory and discretionary caseloads in appellate courts. As the terms imply, mandatory jurisdiction over cases means that an appellate court is obligated by its state constitution or statutes to consider the merits of a case. Discretionary jurisdiction means the court decides whether it will grant review of a case.

# Appellate court-filings show a slight increase for the first time since 199

- D Total appellate court caseloads include original proceedings and appeals over which the appellate courts have mandatory or discretionary jurisdiction. This trend shows annual filing data for state appellate courts for the last 10 years.
- Between 1993 and 1998 the number of appellate court filings increased 17 percent, from 254,000 to 297,000. Over the next five years, filings declined 6 percent to 278,000.

#### Total Appellate Court Filings, 1993-2002



# Intermediate appellate courts handle most mandatory appeals

- D Intermediate appellate courts provide firstlevel review, while courts of last resort are the final arbiters of disputes. This structure results in intermediate appellate courts handling the majority of appeals. Where there is no intermediate appellate court, a state supreme court conducts first and final appellate review.
- D The caseloads in IACs and COLRs are reported here as filings of mandatory appeals and discretionary petitions. Mandatory appeals in IACs outnumbered those in COLRs by a margin of 6 to 1. Conversely, there are more than two discretionary petitions filed in COLRs for every one filed in IACs.

Total Mandatory and Discretionary Caseloads in COLRs and IACs, 2002

Discretionary	· 27,779
(32%)	60,608

158,889

Mandatory (68%) 26,655

Intermediate Appellate Courts
 Courts of Last Resort

Appellette court filing rettes very widely ecross the

- D States in this table are divided into those with and without an intermediate appellate court and then ranked according to their number of appeals per 100,000 population. Caseloads are shown as percentages composed of mandatory appeals and discretionary petitions.
- When adjusted for population, Louisiana (population rank 24) reported the highest number of appeals (283 per 100,000 population) and North Carolina (population rank 11) reported the lowest (38 per 100,000 population).
- D Proportions of mandatory and discretionary caseloads vary dramatically, but several states show 100 percent mandatory or discretionary jurisdiction. These proportions were based upon the number of cases reported in each category rather than actual mandated jurisdiction. Hence, a 100 percent designation in one category could simply mean that there were no cases filed in the other category in 2002.

Total Appellate Caseloads by State, 2002									
States	Appeals per 100,000 Population	Total Appeals	Mandatory Appeals	Discretionary Petitions	Population Rank				
With Intermediate									
Louisiana	283	12,706	29%	71%	24				
Alabama	141	6,325	82	18	23				
Florida	140	23,379	83	17	4				
Puerto Rico	132	5,079	33	67	27				
Pennsylvania	131	16,178	83	17	6				
New Jersey	123	10,546	72	28	9				
Oregon	120	4,213	83	17	28				
Alaska	114	736	74	26	48				
Ohio	113	12,952	88	12	7				
Nebraska	106	1,830	82	18	39				
Texas	103	22,413	86	14	2				
Kansas	99	2,678	67	33	33				
Illinois	95	11,985	78	22	5				
Michigan	94	9,429	44	56	8				
Washington	94	5,692	70	30	15				
Idaho	93	1,248	85	15	40				
Kentucky	92	3,783	78	22	26				
Hawaii	92	1,146	94	6	43				
Arizona	91	4,951	76	24	19				
Colorado	90	4,041	69	31	22				
California	89	31,296	45	55	1				
Virginia	88	6,440	11	89	12				
New York	86	16,386	76	24	3				
Arkansas	83	2.256	74	26	34				
Wisconsin	83	4.522	75	25	20				
Missouri	80	4,519	86	14	17				
New Mexico	78	1,440	58	42	37				
Iowa	73	2.137	100	0	31				
South Carolina	70	2,856	59	41	25				
Tennessee	65	3,784	61	39	16				
Maryland	63	3,453	63	37	18				
Georgia	60	5,132	68	32	10				
Minnesota	59	2,942	74	26	21				
Massachusetts	57	3,694	60	40	13				
Utah	55	1.264	100	0	35				
Indiana	52	3.185	77	23	14				
Connecticut	49	1,693	71	29	30				
Mississippi	49	1,401	78	22	32				
North Carolina	38	3,157	55	45	11				
Without an Interm	ediate Appellate Cou	rt							
District of Columb	ia 266	1,520	96	4	51				
West Virginia	147	2,653	0	100	38				
Delaware	89	715	100	0	46				
Montana	88	798	73	27	45				
Vermont	86	530	97	3	50				
Nevada	79	1,723	100	0	36				
Rhode Island	70	754	45	55	44				
New Hampshire	64	813	0	100	42				
South Dakota	60	457	84	16	47				

#### Total Appellate Caseloads by State, 2002

Notes: Oklahoma and Wyoming were unable to provide data for 2002. States in blue are the nation's 10 most populous.

363

738

57

57

North Dakota

Maine

49

41

6

24

94

76

# State appellate courts issued over 38,000 opinions

- D Most appeals are resolved by opinions, memoranda/orders, or pre-argument dismissals. While opinions can be rendered through a variety of means, the data here capture only two: signed opinions and *per curiam* affirmed opinions. In 2002, 17 courts of last resort issued almost 3,700 such opinions while 24 intermediate appellate courts issued over 34,500.
- D During 2002, these courts also issued more than 23,000 memoranda/orders and dismissed approximately 27,000 cases.

#### Manner of Disposition in 17 Courts of Last Resort and 24 Intermediate Appellate Courts, 2002

	Number of	Total	— or	oinions ——	Non-Opinion Dispositions			
	Justices	Dispositions	Signed	Per Curiam	Memo/Order	Pre-Argument		Othe
Courts of Last Resort							-	
Florida	7	2,977	95	213	2,669			
Nevada	7	2,454	38	61	1,767	588		
Iowa	8	2,180	180	11	.,	928	1,015	46
District of Columbia	9	1,836	339	575	865		1,010	57
Colorado	7	1,415	121		1,287		7	•
Washington	9	1,328	129		892	70	118	119
Puerto Rico	7	1,240	92	44	129	957		18
Indiana	5	1,103	195	18	190	687		13
Hawaii	5	847	191			257	258	141
Rhode Island	5	818	75	105	70	290		278
Montana	7	792	343		239	210		
Delaware	5	713	71	19	546	77		
Vermont	5	603	68		388	147		
Alaska	5	516	182	68		95		171
South Dakota	5	428	164		167	64		33
Oregon	7	371	60	40	251			20
North Dakota	5	345	189			71		85
Intermediate Appellate Courts								
Ohio	68	10.627	6.992			3,389		246
Pennsylvania Superior Ct.	15	8,152	5,315			2,835	2	240
Michigan	28	7,647	212	102	3,636	1,793	2	1,904
New Jersey	34	7,280	431	3,560	250	3,039		1,001
Pennsylvania Commonwealth Ct.	9	4,753	1,746	-,		2,722	117	168
Washington	22	4.306	1,846		264	1.593	11	592
Oregon	10	3,844	393	118	1,483	1,660		190
Missouri	32	3,661	1,686		103	1,200	92	580
Wisconsin	16	3,486	761	523	867			1,335
Georgia	12	3,389	1,401		643	567	69	709
Massachusetts	22	2,869	363		1,071	618	76	741
Alabama Ct. of Criminal Appeals	5	2,748	122		1,673	578		375
Colorado	16	2,463	291		1,330	834	8	
Maryland	13	2,381	144	1,179		500	41	517
Vinnesota	16	2,007	1,324	3	61	609		10
Kansas	10	1,742	1,246		292		204	
Tennessee Ct. of Appeals	12	1,504	843		422	4		235
Alabama Ct. of Civil Appeals	5	1,306	323		574	358	51	
Fennessee Ct. of Criminal Appeal	s 12	1,304	890		288	17		109
Connecticut	9	1,271	637			262	129	243
owa	9	1,231	1,144	70		14		3
Arkansas	12	1,200	629			43	80	448
New Mexico	10	855	152		541	145	8	9
Alaska	3	302	55		172	31	-	44

## Memorande/orders are the most common disposition in state courts of last resort

- D The most common dispositions in intermediate appellate courts are signed opinions and pre-argument dismissals. Together, these two actions comprise about twothirds of all dispositions in IACs. Opinions typically include statements of fact, points of law, rationale, and dicta, while a preargument dismissal is based on a review of briefs rather than oral arguments.
- D Nearly one-half of cases in appellate courts of last resort are resolved by a memorandum/order, which is a simple order based on a unanimous opinion. Pre-argument dismissals and signed opinions are the next most common at 22 percent and 13 percent, respectively.
- D The remaining appeals are disposed of by *per curiam* opinions (usually a short opinion issued in the name of the court rather than specific justices), transfers to another court, or some other method.

#### Manner of Disposition in COLRs v. IACs, 2002



□ Courts of Last Resort □ Intermdiate Appellate Courts

Alse of a violation of the second second

- D Mandatory civil and criminal appeals in IACs, those cases that the courts are statutorily required to hear, have tracked consistently with one another for the last 10 years with civil appeals averaging about 8,000 more filings per year than criminal appeals.
- In 2002, mandatory civil and criminal appeals in the 36 intermediate appellate courts featured on this chart continued a decline that began in 1998, resulting in a 3 percent decrease in civil appeals and a 5 percent decrease in criminal appeals.

Mandatory Civil and Criminal Appeals in 36 Intermediate Appellate Courts, 1993 - 2002



Griminal petitions in courts of la

- Courts of last resort in 15 states were able to provide filing data for discretionary civil and criminal petitions from 1993 to 2002. For the ten-year period shown here, discretionary criminal petitions are up 20 percent despite a 4 percent decrease over the last two years.
- D The number of discretionary civil petitions in the same 15 courts of last resort reached its peak in 1995; the number of filings then remained constant for three years. From 1997 to 2001, filings declined annually. The number of civil petitions filed in 2002 was virtually the same as in 2001. Overall, there has been an 8 percent decline in the last 10 years.

# Discretionary Criminal and Civil Petitions in 15 Courts of Last Resort, 1993-2002

resort decreased for second consecutiv



The majority of states expedite dependency appeals to speed permanent placement

- D Forty-four states and the District of Columbia report having at least some aspect of an expedited appellate procedure for dependency cases. Only six states report not having any such procedure.
- D Strategies to expedite appeals include developing a tracking system, devising and implementing penalties for delay, reducing briefing schedules, limiting oral argument, and expediting the assembling of the record and transcript preparation.
- D States have formalized expedited processes through court rules (23 states), statutes (15 states), or constitutional amendments (one state). Internal operating procedures may also be used to expedite cases. Often, states have more than one legal process for expediting dependency appeals. For example, Georgia has utilized a constitutional amendment, state statute, and internal operating procedures.

#### Status of Expedited Procedures as of July 2002



- Does not have any aspects of an expedited appellate procedure (6)
- □ Reports aspects of an expedited appellate procedure (45)

Source: Dependency Appeals: Strategies to Reduce Delay, 2nd Edition, NCSC, 2003

## Termination of parental rights is the most common of expedited dependency appeals

- Case types that may be classified as dependency appeals include termination of parental rights (TPR), abuse and neglect, adoption, custody, children in need of assistance, domestic violence cases that include custody issues, guardianship of a minor, and visitation appeals.
- D Many states expedite more than one case type. In fact, most states expedite two or more case types, and many expedite any appeal that involves a child-related issue.

#### Number of States Supporting Expedited Dependency Appeals by Type of Case



Appellate courts are beginning to use alternative dispute resolution

- D Alternative dispute resolution (ADR) consists of dispute resolution processes outside of (or adjacent to) the traditional court case structure. Processes as diverse as mediation, arbitration, early neutral evaluation (ENE), summary jury trials, settlement conferences, parenting classes for divorcing couples, and group or family conferencing are all considered types of ADR.
- D The focus of many appellate court ADR programs is to encourage or require counsel for the parties to discuss settlement at a conference facilitated by a non-judicial court employee or other third-party neutral. Although these attorneyneutrals have different titles depending on the court, their role is primarily that of a mediator. The conferences are usually held before the filing of appellate briefs and, in nearly all cases, before oral argument. Some appellate programs are geared exclusively toward settlement, while other programs also address case management and procedural issues.
- D Local court rules or procedures identify the criteria each court uses to determine whether a case is eligible for the program and whether a conference should be scheduled.
- D In twenty-one states, appellate courts are addressing increasing caseloads by offering alternative dispute resolution before and during the appeal.
- D Case types that are often referred to mediation include general civil (tort, contract, and real property rights), domestic relations, and workers' compensation cases.

#### States Using ADR in Appellate Courts



Appellate ADR or Settlement Conferences (19)No Appellate ADR Program (32)
Administrative agency appeals have decreased 18 percent over the last five years

- D Administrative agencies are licensing or regulatory bodies that oversee policies regarding worker's compensation, unemployment compensation, public utilities, historic preservation, etc. These agencies typically have a combination of legislative, executive, and judicial functions that they use to carry out legislatively mandated policy. Thus, an administrative agency appeal is an appeal of a decision made by one of these agencies.
- D The number of administrative agency appeals in 11 state appellate courts has been declining since 1999. The greatest decline (-16 percent) occurred in 2001 when the number of filings fell by almost 1,000 cases.

#### Administrative Agency Appeals in 11 States, 1998-2002



# Ten models for taking a trial court appeal through the appellate system

D	The most common pattern has one court of last resort with mostly discretionary jurisdiction and one intermediate appellate court with mostly mandatory jurisdiction. Of these states, the Wisconsin COLR has no mandatory jurisdiction while the IACs of Missouri, Nebraska, and Oregon have no discretionary jurisdiction.	AK, AR, AZ, CA, FL, GA, KS, LA, MA, MN, MO, NE, NJ, NC, OR, VA, WA, WI	
D	These states also have one court of last resort and one intermediate appellate court, but both have mostly mandatory jurisdiction. In fact, the IACs in Colorado and Ohio have no discretionary jurisdiction.	CO, CT, IL, MD, NM, OH, PR, UT	Trial Court       IAC       COLR         Mostly Mandatory       Mostly Mandatory
D	Appeals in five states are filed in the court of last resort, which retains some appeals and transfers others to the intermediate appellate court. These courts of last resort have both mandatory and dis- cretionary jurisdiction, but the intermediate appellate courts have mandatory jurisdiction only.	HI, ID, IA, MS, SC	Trial Court       →       Image: Colr         Image: Colr       Image: Colr       Colr         Image: Colr       Image: Colr       Mandatory & Discretionary         Mandatory       Mandatory       Colr
D	In two states, both the court of last resort and the intermediate appellate court have discretionary jurisdiction over the majority of their caseload.	KY, MI	Trial Court IAC COLR Mostly Discretionary Mostly Discretionary
D	These states handle caseloads without an intermediate appellate court, and the court of last resort has both mandatory and discre- tionary jurisdiction.	DE, DC, ME, MT, NH, RI, SD, VT, WY	Trial Court COLR Mandatory & Discretionary

Appellate





For each state, the *State Profiles* provide a basic overview of trial and appellate court filing rates, the number of judges, population trends, and court structure. Each state profile has three components: a descriptive table, caseload trend charts, and a set of court structure icons. We hope these profiles will provoke the demand for additional cross-state comparisons.

#### Descriptive Table

D First, we reference each state in terms of estimated population size and growth. In our sample state, Florida, we see that the population is estimated at 16,713,149, and that the population has increased by 22 percent from 1993 to 2002. We then report the number of appellate and general jurisdiction courts judges per 100,000 residents. In this example, those numbers are 0.4 and 3.0, respectively. Trial court caseloads are reported as criminal and civil filings per 100,000 residents. In this example, those numbers. In this example, those numbers are 3,973 and 8,728, respectively. The data for judges and for filings are expressed as a rate per 100,000 residents to allow comparisons across states.

Florida 🚞	
State Population	16,713,149
1993-2002 increase	22%
Judges per 100,000 resider	its
Appellate	0.4
General Jurisdiction	3.0
Trial Court Filings <sub>Per</sub>	100.000 residents
Criminal	3,973
Civil	8,728

#### Filing Trend Charts

- D Each profile contains two trend line charts. The first, pictured on the left side of the figure below, shows trial court filing rates for criminal and civil cases. In this example, the population-adjusted filings show a general upward trend in civil cases, and a slight decline in criminal cases.
- D The second trend chart presents case filing rates for Intermediate Appellate Courts (IACs) and Courts of Last Resort (COLRs, more commonly (but not always) known as state supreme courts). In this example we see that filing rates in Florida's IAC rose and declined, while filing rates in the COLR appear flat (Note: the number of filings in COLRs tend to be small, and thus changes in filings can be masked simply due to the scale of the chart).
- D Both sets of trend lines can be used to assess at a glance how one state's trends might be similar or different from other states. Note that a small number of charts are incomplete due to the inability of some states to report the necessary data.



.

#### Court Structure

- D The diagram here shows the court structure of our sample state. Florida, like most states, has four levels of courts. Some states have fewer than four levels, and within levels, states may vary in terms of the number of distinct types of courts at that level. Each state's profile can be compared at a glance as to its level of organizational complexity.
- D At the top of the diagram, appellate courts are divided into courts of last resort (COLR) and intermediate appellate courts (IAC). Courts of last resort are, as the name implies, the final destination in the appeal process at the state level. In states with both an IAC and COLR, cases being appealed typically move from the general jurisdiction trial court to the intermediate appellate court and from there to the court of last resort. In Florida, we see that there is a single type of IAC and a single COLR.
- D Only two states—Texas and Oklahoma—have two courts of last resort. Note also that 12 states do not have an intermediate appellate court: Delaware, District of Columbia, Maine, Montana, Nevada, New Hampshire, North Dakota, Rhode Island, South Dakota, Vermont, West Virginia, and Wyoming.
- D At the bottom of the diagram, we find the state's trial court organization, most often fashioned into courts of general and limited jurisdiction. In our example, there is one icon at the limited jurisdiction level, representing Florida's County Court. At the general jurisdiction level, there is also one icon, representing Florida's Circuit Court.
- D Florida's two-tiered trial court structure is among the most common, but it is not the simplest. About one quarter of the states have unified their court systems (e.g., Minnesota) by combining limited and general jurisdiction courts into a single general jurisdiction court. States with a unified court structure are symbolized by an absence of a limited jurisdiction icon and the presence of a single general jurisdiction icon. Conversely, five states—Georgia, Massachusetts, New York, Rhode Island, and Texas—have five or more distinct limited jurisdiction courts.

Complete descriptions of each court system can be found in the complementary National Center for State Courts and Bureau of Justice Statistics publication, *State Court Organization, 1998*, available at: *www.ojp.usdoj.gov/bjs/abstract/sco98.htm*. Detailed structure charts for all states may also be found in *State Court Caseload Statistics, 2003*.

# COLR IAC GJ

ஜ ப













## Mississippi











• A change in counting practices took place in 1996.







	AL	AK	AZ	AR	CA	со	ст	DE	DC	FL	GA	н	ID	ίL	IN	IA	ĸs
Overview Section											•/1						
Total State Trial Court Filings (in millions), 1993-2002	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
State Trial Court Filings (in millions) by Case Type, 1993-2002	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
Cases Filed in State Trial Courts by Jurisdiction, 2002 (in millions)	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	٠	•	•	•	•	•	•
Judicial Officers in State Trial Courts by Court Jurisdiction, 1993-2002	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
Total General Civil Dispositions and Trials in General Jurisdiction Trial Courts in 10 States, 1993-2002				•	•					•		•					
Percentage of Jury v. Non-Jury General Civil Trials in GJ Trial Courts in 10 States, 1993-2002				•	·					•		•					
Jury Trial Rates per 1,000 General Civil Dispositions in GJ Trial Courts in 10 States, 1993 v. 2002				•	•					•		•					
Total Felony Dispositions and Trials in General Jurisdiction Trial Courts in 13 States, 1976-2002		•			•				•	•					•		•
Proportion of Felony Jury v. Non-Jury Trials in General Jurisdiction Trial Courts in 13 States, 1976-2002		•.			•				•	•					٠		•
Jury Trial Rates per 1,000 Felony Dispositions in GJ Trial Courts in 13 States, 1976 v. 2002		·			•				•	•					·		•
Civil Section																	
Civil Cases Filed in State Trial Courts by Jurisdiction, 1993-2002	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		•	•
Civil Caseload Composition in Unified v. General Jurisdiction Trial Courts in 18 States, 2002		•		•	•	•	•			•						•	•
Tort and Contract Filings in General Jurisdiction Trial Courts in 17 States, 1993-2002			•	•		•				•							•
Tort Filings in General Jurisdiction Trial Courts in 16 States, 1975-2002										•			•				•
Tort Filings in General Jurisdiction Trial Courts in 35 States, 1993-2002	•		•	•		•	•			•			•		•		•
Manner of Disposition in Tort v. Contract Cases in General Jurisdiction Trial Courts in Seven States, 2002				•													
Automobile Tort Filings in 19 States, 1993-2002	•		•			•											
Medical Malpractice Filings in 12 States, 1993-2002										•							
Medical Malpractice Filings in 17 States, 1998-2002	•		•			•	•			•							
Domestic Relations Section																	
Domestic Relations Filings in State Trial Courts, 1993-2002	•	•	•	•	·	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
Domestic Relations Cases Filed in State Trial Courts by Court Jurisdiction, 1993-2002	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
Percent Change in DR Filings by Case Type, 1993 v. 2002 and DR Cases by Case Type, 1993-2002																	
Divorce Filings		•	•	•	·	•	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	•	•	•
Custody Filings				•		•	•	•	•	•			•				
Paternity Filings		•		•		•	•	•	•			•			•		•
Interstate Support Filings		•		•		•	•		•	•		•			•	•	•
Adoption Filings Domestic Relations Caseload Composition in 23 Courts, 2002 (18 States)		•	•	•		•	:	•	:			•	•	•	:		•
				-			-		-								
Criminal Section																	
Total Criminal Cases Filed in State Trial Courts, 1993-2002	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	٠	•	٠	•	•	•	•	•	•
Percent Growth in Criminal Filings by Court Jurisdiction, 1993-2002	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	٠	•	•	•	•
Felony Filings in Unified and General Jurisdiction Courts in 46 States, 1993-2002	•	•	•	•	•	•	٠		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
Domestic Violence Filings in General and Limited Jurisdiction Courts in 40 States, 1993-2002		•	•	•		•	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	•	•	•
Criminal Caseload Composition, 2002 (Unified Courts)														•		•	•
Criminal Caseload Composition, 2002 (General Jurisdiction Courts)		•				•				•			•				
Criminal Caseload Composition, 2002 (Limited Jurisdiction Courts)	•		•	•		•		•		•	•	•	•				
Juvenile Section																	
Juvenile Cases Filed in State Trial Courts by Jurisdiction, 1993-2002									•						•		
Juvenile Caseload Composition in 26 States, 2002	•			•	•	•			•		•	•					
Traffic Section																	
Traffic Cases Filed in State Trial Courts, 1993-2002																	
DWI Filings in 11 States, 1993-2002			•							•		•	•			•	
Appellate Section																	
Total Appellate Court Filings, 1993-2002	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	٠	•	•	•
Total Mandatory and Discretionary Caseloads in COLRs and IACs, 2002	٠	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	٠	•	•	•	•
Manner of Disposition in COLRs v. IACs, 2002 (COLR - 17 States)		•				٠		•	•	•		•			•	•	
Manner of Disposition in COLRs v. IACs, 2002 (IAC - 21 States)	•	٠		٠		•	·				•					•	•
Mandatory Civil and Criminal Appeals in 36 Intermediate Appellate Courts, 1993-2002 (33 States)	•	٠	•	•	•	٠	•				•	•	•	•	•	•	•
Discretionary Criminal and Civil Petitions in 15 Courts of Last Resort, 1993-2002			•		•									•	•		
Administrative Agency Appeals in 11 States, 1998-2002			·						•						•		

\*States with unified trial courts are highlighted in blue.

# Appendix

KY LA	ME	MD	MA	MI	MN	MS	мо	MT	NE	NV	NH	NJ	NM	NY	NC	ND	он	ок	OR	PA	PR	RI	sc	SD	TN	тх	UT	VT	VA	WA	wv	wi	WY	Total
																																		States
• •	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	52 52
• •	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		•		•	•	•	:	:	:	:			:			•	:	:				52 52
•••	:	:	:	÷		:	:	÷		÷	÷	÷	÷																•				•	52
•••	•	•	•	-	•	-	-	-	-				•																					10
													•																					10
																																		10
															•		•				•			•		•		•						13
												•			•		•				•			•		•		•						13
												•			•		•				•			•		•		•						13
• •	•	•	•	•	•	•	٠	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	٠	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	52
	•				•		•						•			•			•			•					•			•		•		18
	•		•		•								•	•	•	•									•	•				•		•		17
	•	•		•												•	•								•	•	•			•				16
	•	•	•	•	•	•	•			•		•	•	•	•	•	•		•		•	•			•	•	·			•		•	•	35 7
												•		_												÷				•				, 19
		•		•			•					•	•	•	•							•				•						•	÷	12
							·			•						ż																	•	17
					•	•	•				•	•		·		-			-		-	-												
				•																								•						52
													•					•						•		•	•	•			•			52
•					•						•		•	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	•		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		44
•		•	•	•								•	•		•	•	•		•	•	•			•	•		•	•	•	٠		•		26
•		•	•	•			•			•			•			•	•		•		•				•		•	•		•		•		25
•	•		•	•	•		•						•		•		•		•		•	•		•	•	•	•					•		27
• •		•	•	•	•		•	٠	•	•	•	٠	•	•		•	٠		•	•	•	•		•	•		•	•		•	•	•		39
•			•	٠		•				•	•			•			٠		•		•				•		•	٠			•			18
• •	•	•	•	٠	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	52
• •	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	·	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	٠	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	52
• •	•	·	•		•		•		•		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	46
• •	•	•	•	•	•	•	•			•	•	•	•	•	•		•	•	•			•		•			•	•	•	•	•		•	40 7
																•					•			•								•		18
•			:								÷	•	÷		•		•								•		•			•				18
•		•	•	•							•		·																					
																			٠.											•				52
														•													•	•	•	•	•			26
• •	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	52
		•									•	•												•		•				•				11
• •																																		
• •	٠	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	٠	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	·	•	•	•	•		50
								•		•						•			•		•	•		•				·		•				17
•••		•	•	•	•		•					•	•				•		•	•					•					•		•		21
•••		•	•	·	•		•						•	•	•		•		•	•					•	•	•		•	•		•		33
•				•	•									·	•		•		•										•	•	•	•		15
	·				•								•						•		•						•		•		•			

# Court Statistics Project Methodology

Information for the CSP's national caseload databases comes from published and unpublished sources supplied by state court administrators and appellate court clerks. Published data are typically taken from official state court annual reports, so they take many forms and vary greatly in detail. Data from published sources are often supplemented by unpublished data received from the state courts in many formats, including internal management memoranda and computer-generated output.

The CSP data collection effort to build a comprehensive statistical profile of the work of state appellate and trial courts nationally is underway throughout the year. Extensive telephone contacts and follow-up correspondence are used to collect missing data, confirm the accuracy of available data, and determine the legal jurisdiction of each court. Information is also collected on the number of judges per court or court system (from annual reports, offices of state court administrators, and appellate court clerks); the state population (based on U.S. Bureau of the Census revised estimates); and special characteristics regarding subject matter jurisdiction and court structure.

*Examining the Work of State Courts, 2003* and *State Court Caseload Statistics, 2003* are intended to enhance the potential for meaningful state court caseload comparisons. Because this volume examines 50 states, the District of Columbia, and the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, and thus 52 different court systems, the biggest challenge is to organize the data for valid state-to-state comparison among states and over time. The COSCA/NCSC approach also highlights some aspects that remain problematic for collecting comparable state court caseload data.

A discussion of how to use state court caseload statistics, a complete review of the data collection procedures, and the sources of each state's 2002 caseload statistics are provided in the companion volume to this report, *State Court Caseload Statistics, 2003*.

#### State Court Caseload Statistics, 2003

The analysis presented in *Examining the Work of State Courts, 2003* is derived in part from the data found in *State Court Caseload Statistics, 2003*. The information and tables found in this latter volume are intended to serve as a detailed reference on the work of the nation's state courts. *State Court Caseload Statistics, 2003* is organized in the following manner:

**State Court Structure Charts** display the overall structure of each state court system on a one-page chart. Each state's chart identifies all the courts in operation in that state during 2002, describes their geographic and subject matter jurisdiction, notes the number of authorized judicial positions, indicates whether funding is primarily local or state, and outlines the routes of appeal between courts.

Jurisdiction and State Court Reporting Practices review basic information that affects the comparability of caseload information reports by the courts. For example, the dollar amount jurisdiction for civil cases; the method by which cases are counted in appellate courts and in criminal, civil, and juvenile trial courts; and trial courts that have the authority to hear appeals are all discussed. Information is also provided that defines what constitutes a case in each court, making it possible to determine which appellate and trial courts compile caseload statistics on a similar basis. Finally, the numbers of judges and justices working in state trial and appellate courts are displayed.

**2002 State Court Caseload Tables** contain detailed information from the nation's state courts. Six tables detail information on appellate courts, and an additional six tables contain data on trial courts (Tables 1-12). Tables 13-16 describe trends in the volume of case filings and dispositions for the period 1993-2002. These displays include trend data on mandatory and discretionary cases in state appellate courts and felony and tort filings in state trial courts over the past ten years. The tables also indicate the extent of standardization in the data for each state. The factors that most strongly affect the comparability of caseload information across the states (for example, the unit of count) are incorporated into the tables. Footnotes explain how a court system's reported caseloads conform to the standard categories for reporting that are recommended in the *State Court Model Statistical Dictionary, 1989.* Caseload numbers are noted as incomplete in the types of cases represented, as overinclusive, or both. Statistics without footnotes are in compliance with the *Dictionary's* standard definitions.

State Court Caseload Statistics is available on the NCSC Web site at: www.ncsconline.org/d\_research/csp/csp\_main\_page.html

#### The NCSC Court Statistics Project

The Court Statistics Project can provide advice and clarification on the use of the statistics from this and previous caseload reports. Project staff can also provide the full range of information available from each state. Most states provide far more detailed caseload information than can be presented in project publications. Information from the CSP is also available on the NCSC Web site at: *www.ncsconline.org/d\_research/csp/ csp\_main\_page.html*.

Comments, corrections, suggestions, and requests for information from users of *Examining the Work of State Courts, 2003, State Court Caseload Statistics, 2003,* and the *Caseload Highlights* series can be sent to:

Director, Court Statistics Project National Center for State Courts 300 Newport Avenue Williamsburg, VA 23185 Phone: (800) 616-6109 Fax: (757) 564-2098 www.ncsconline.org/d\_research/csp/cspform.htm

# The State Court Guide to Statistical Reporting

The *Guide* provides a model approach for defining and counting court caseload and workload. It is designed to provide a consistent, nationally accepted framework for compiling accurate and comparable statistical reports, consistent with the Conference of State Court Administrators/National Association for Court Management Joint Technology Committee's Functional Standards.

The Guide is available in full color PDF format on the NCSC Web site at: http://www.ncsconline.org/wc/publications/kis\_ctstatreport2003pub.pdf.

Black and white copies are available from the NCSC Research Division. You will find our Court Statistics Project information request form at: *http://www.ncsconline.org/d\_research/csp/cspform.htm*.

An interactive, Web-based version of the *Guide* will be available at: *http://www.ncsconline.org/d\_research/csp/csp\_main\_page.html*.

This Web application taps the power of database and Web technology to provide convenient and flexible access to the valuable information contained in the print version of the *Guide*.

State Court
Guide <sub>to</sub>
Statistical
Reporting
al <u>san an an a</u>
No. (No. ) No. (N

## The Caseload Highlights Series

# CASELOAD HIGHLIGHTS

് ത്രാസ്ത്രനം	0000000000	est and the	
	Section and Section 2		
ten last and their to		The rest is state of	
ber shared to the	C	A	belef south Middle Bart
a site annual, al su	Partner, Name 1 or State		whet weter and m
	and the second state of	. بىغە بىر غان مەر ب	
tion be many time		The second states of	and the set fort
Company of the State of the Local	In the second second	· mare the cur band	to a late we have
	terr from a proven of		
****		material and a state of some	and the same rates
	and any res being a price of		and a spin of the print
A		****	and the second s
ground brought or has not			and a state of the state of
mante - fort	4. AN	بعيد مناغيو عشياءه	"may up and apprehease
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
An appropriate and a second	*****		a marks of a
		and the second s	and ferrors and and
	5 mg - m - m - m - r - m	and the second second second	
mailers of the America	March and Landscore	*****	·
with control to pro-	(	*** b 7 km ****	a - tow down the
			where a party time
A	* A		·
	at press there are party a		4
	and a star block	par apresent a	
the design of the second			
the design of her party	the supervised for the s		
and a star to	wat the bar and of	real has been and	
manually a second	and the start of the start		CLARK BLO BRO
Approx of the base		to a case of a mass	A case of barries and
and all a get to a star	at a started	in the second second second	and the base to
	The state of the state of	Commentant and the	
and the second second of the	and a part of the second se		was he down
			plane - and - de-
hime make where		הבאלולולי (	The I do manifest to
manage and data bet	Contra Manufac	a construction of the second s	// had being at a
Ware from word all of the	· Contraction		A DESCRIPTION OF A DESC
Press of the line	On your . where		
	The Part of Date of the	Landson of Las. 17	The hard to be the set
		1.000	
erstate. To yes	part - the used of a	"int and " the web	rains for a line of the
res for some 5 mandre	Constant of the local		
and stops to construct	part blowed on them	and the second second second	
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Internet Arend	Allowing and any other

Vol. 3 N	A Taxonomy of Appellate Court Organization

CASELO.	ad H	IGHLIG	HTS
Practing and Understa	nating Farmity 1	Nolance Coselopde	
			in Spranne, dan same ber i nan bagang a dan di na a dan ba da da da damas i persana da
A finant and the second			(1) (a) set the first first and (c) lightless suggest and particular to table of the constraints and other set the set to table
		fair consol for some to they constructed have a consolities for the construction of the for-	nan and an
for a line barres			nal response di bra i collecti dalla bisarda la ortena referer dada. come collecti dada. come collecti dada.
<ul> <li>Norman privately strategy of the second strategy of the</li></ul>	• • •	and to a data up tong better to starting the set any set of the Tang a read of the Tang a read of the Tang a read of the Tang	anna Anna Ann Ann anna An an fanna airs Buan an an An Anna An Anna Anna An Anna An Anna Anna
an ang pantang at a a kana ta ta ang ang pantang at ang datang ang at ang at ang		and of the area (1983) area of the other of provide PD substance Software and the stancy of the account of the stance	-grinty but had per an part parter, an bit of an ar- ability and but has ED2 (see ar 5 perch bitson of 5 perch)
in consistent of the Frank of the constant frank of the constant frank of the second of the second based of the second	- made	national april	und processes in part for character of the file crossing parts info- ectors for typethy sta- ectors for typethy sta- cordinate in science of the start for file of

Vol. 5 No. 2: Tracking and Understanding Family Violence Caseloads

# CASELOAD HIGHLIGHTS

Wothere Reform and the Domestic Relations Caselood	
Pagan Full Standards Spundler Spundler Standards Standar	
Billion Information Statements and a second statement of the second stateme	terrete bergenet ber
Margan and Margan ages at a function product particle for the instruments of a sense instrument of the sense of the sense of the sense instrument of the sense	
<ul> <li>Market del aggettante i se arrest former a de arresta arresta announte i d'ante de la sete de la market e i des de arresta della balla del del arresta arresta arresta</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Mittagene bes statistics of subjects of subjects of the subject of t</li></ul>	
* A stage of a starbule to the starbule coupled on the starbule coupled. • Ref. 1. (1) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2	
<ul> <li>Princeto and Constant and an address of the second state of the second st</li></ul>	
Berg and Mary (1999) and a strain of a finite state of a strain part of a strain of the strain of a strain of a strain of a strain of a strain of a strain strain strain of the strain of a strain of a strain of a strain at strain strain of the strain of a strain of a strain of a strain of strain of a strain of a strain of a strain of a strain.	
1. Prove segment between the state of a first state of a state	
6.0. Слова сластирија и проделака у пократ, у спорат, у се спорат, се старат, се старат, се старат, разна старат, у старат, у се с старат, у се старат, у се	Las a Bana da apara Las a Capital da Angela Mangalan da Angela Mangalan da Angela Las angela

Vol. 4 No. 1: Welfare Reform and the Domestic Relations Caseload

= =

# Caseload Highlights

1 av

-----

Destantine and	
	-
ار موادیده در دهند د دو و مو	1
The logic frances and the same	And a second sec
prise where the second second	
And And Are a second second set.	the real of the re
	and the second s
and the provest in a street of	
unana ang syada te ana aka s Tarah sa sa sa sa sa sa sa	
And which the second states	set a will
en an welt at a fact	· • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
Anne i como Balanzar Ingelo, Milio como de como de como	
of this for Landon at the dive	السيرينيونية المناه مراسين. يوانطرونيو المعام مراسين
we have a settle and the set	commentation in a service of the
1	A CARLER AND A CAR
nad, and save to an ar by tart the in-	the carrier and the best of
the product of the second term	A second probability of the second se
The second se	and an
and the works and success	<ul> <li>A state of a second seco</li></ul>
factor of calculation and a strongeneral	ی در در است. این در ماند میشد داد. ارونی است این است میشد میشد میشد و میشد و م
,	When a start spectrum and the Article and
and free the square of a sur-	<ul> <li>A set of the set of</li></ul>
	and approximately and a set of

Vol. 6 No. 1: Trends in Juvenile Violent Crime

#### CASELOAD HIGHLIGHTS

Prisoner Lillgolik	on in Relation to Pi	humer Population	14
The Brouter State Street St.	m m dahr a	-	
et et dennes e respect a			
	h		
	** ****	*** *****	<i>4</i>
Tr + Marin Lan		AND 10 1 10	
	****		
See Flair Parate	* . * mm la	******	FFRENC .
fage-11-2		37	
state we have a second			
1 cm + c			• - max + - , m
			1.1.00
**************************************			the second distant
1.5 Mar 41 Mar 14	Aur 20 4 1		1.000
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		an Australia Armon - at	w
and they well an	A N.M. Comp. 5 - art 1	10 Mar 10 Mar 10 Mar 10	
			forman and prove payments
			****
		Arr 210 100 10 100	و علي دو هنده ليونون
	that the unit is charted of	party is a second	1000 do 100 contra ou
the many product of the			
	the burget i want	terms and be place	
the state with the light	T, State of a state of a	MA	
	ter mit same Mantfridma I		Annu Millions II
The set have a financial			and the second second
		Firm strategie	THE PERSON AND INC.
and the second is made a			
			agen bis contract
for a history	teriale antes 🕈 e Te	as the number a part of	
		tes more "	
			وربية بتحدكونهم تتستجر يد
	And in the second second	discount is common	
		Callion for all in	many Fig. and a new
	- danar	Note of the same of the	
		santin an matalana a	

Vol. 4 No. 2: Prisoner Litigation in

Population

Relation to Prisoner

#### CASELOAD HIGHLIGHTS

Drug Crime: Thi	impact on State (	ouris	
	s an decidences		
	* ******		reading first in size
بمتوسونه و	1 mga 1 mg 1 m maran 1		
		war a finality rup	
	Fa		
	Charles and an in		
the sector of th			an an and a sec
	12 4475 44		William Provert 1
THE R DEPOSIT			to state of the same of
ALL	the standard for stand	carden and at second	
. 1 . pr ter . ebcs			
	forms been Constants of	The Class Canada	
	and an arrest	and the first in the	bu and it is a set
		function of the second	and a state of the
			A
( e - t- e -			
	Arrest Bug Allege & Briense		
No and 11 11 12 19	: ^ /	~	- · ·
** -**	201	-~~	3 ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~
	~~~		3~~~
	~~	-~~	1
			<u>.</u> ~
			2~2
			5~~~ 
		~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	
		~~~~	
		~	
		~	
		~	
a) and the set of t		~	
		~	
a) and the set of t		~	
		~	



# CASELOAD HIGHLIGHTS

A Reason of the	0.0000000000000000000000000000000000000	ano.	
Marco and an	at the strength of the		
	THE R LEADER		Time with a
	and of a	The second is as	
man and most	AT 10		
a la strain comp	and the state of the		1.00
	The second rates	No. 10 11 11 11	1
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	* · · · * ; · · · · · ·		-11
and the state of the state			
an owners to also	A		has been and
**************************************		A care of the second	
The second second	5	an	
		**** en	· • • • • •
and so here and a server			
And the second s	~~~~		
NAME OF A DESCRIPTION O	S. 38 . 37 . 1	904. J	
ter Maria Area			
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		Arrest Brann & raw Keeps 1	
1 T 1 Mar 1 1 1 1 4			
water to see the back	weather from the armount		
• • • • • • • • • • •		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
	for many sectors in		
• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •			
And the second s			-
	***		-
terre a service ser-			-
			-
Anness Companyor -	· De recenter -		
		N	1 mm - 1 mm - mm
		menan merikina har	the state of the second
many in the state of parts	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		~
		news and includes	
	1. A	the of the last second	Ann
to a were reason	a characteristic characterist	care day under a to t	
#3re then sets	the second ensurements of	to fair the second second se	- Internet and state
		and out them also	· · · ·

Vol. 6 No. 2: A Renewed Interest in Low-Level Crime

#### CASELOAD HIGHLIGHTS

Pectition Colomy	Coset in the KACI					-	
				_		_	
5 x - 5 g							
		-	-				
			-		-		
				-			
*****		-	~				
16 m	And - which we are	v	~	~			
			~	:			
4 1 Y W W W W W			~	•			
1. 17 Mar # 2.5	period and man 1.						
		-	-				
ten of strength in the		them #	-				
the same the fact		Manager 1	-	-			
	area	=:		-	•		
a manage in the second	*** ** * 1 1 mmm		-	•	-		
				-			
1 1 1 mart 1	and the second	and the second second	-				
	1.000						
P Warm A . was							
Aug 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10							
de ten rei rener s				-			
	att. in berten						
	the second statement and	Parton and agent in the second second					
	and a make's n	- And Marganetic State states. The same and the states					
	distant in the local in	Automotive serve the reported to be					
	The sector of	periode and shows.					
		Carson .					
	Winning Your						
Westment 1	have did have a					-	
	1 Test - Test - 1 - 1 - 1		-	* **	~ •		
	the lateral state of the	and a feature				-	
the state of the	Allow Children	11111-01-01	** * **	• •		-	
	and a second	100000					
same' for part and may		line in the second					
		1					

Vol. 7 No. 1: Profiling Felony Cases in the NACM Network





For downloadable versions of the above issues, visit: www.ncsconline.org/d\_research/csp/highlights/highlights\_main\_page.html.

## The National Center For State Courts

D



- WILLIAMSBURG, VA 300. Newport Avenue (23185) P.O. Box 8798 Williamsburg, VA 23187-8798
- DENVER, CO
   1331 17th St., Ste. 402
   Denver, CO 80202-1554
- ARLINGTON, VA
   2425 Wilson Blvd., Ste. 350
   Arlington, VA 22201

Association Services: (800) 616-6165 Consulting: (800) 466-3063 Education: (800) 616-6206 Government Relations: (800) 532-0204 Information: (800) 616-6164 International Programs: (800) 797-2545 Publications: (888) 228-6272 Research: (800) 616-6109 Technology: (888) 846-6746

The National Center for State Courts is an independent, nonprofit, tax-exempt organization in accordance with Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue code. To find out about supporting the work and mission of the National Center, contact the National Center's Development Office by phone at 1-800-616-6110, or by email at: development@ncsc.dni.us

A joint project of the Conference of State Court Administrators, the Bureau of Justice Statistics, and NCSC.



